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2013 will forever go down in the history books of Spareban-
ken Sør as being the year the idea of having one large re-
gional bank in southern Norway came to fruition. The mer-
ger with Sparebanken Pluss, which has been 30 years in the 
making, finally became a reality in 2013 for the benefit of 
the customers, employees and the region. We embark on a 
new year respectful of the tasks ahead, but with great ent-
husiasm and commitment toward establishing a large and 
robust regional bank for the counties of Vest-Agder, Aust-
Agder and Telemark.

Even through facilitation of the merger required a lot of 
resources in 2013, through focus on our customers and 
operations, our employees ensured a record result for the 
bank. A profit before tax of MNOK 389 is the second best 
result in the history of the bank, and adjusted for non-recur-
ring items in 2010, is the best result from operations in the 

bank’s history. It says a lot about the effort each employee 
has invested and also about the foundation laid for new

Sparebanken Sør, and thereby also ensures our customers a 
wide selection of financial services in the new bank.

In 2011, the bank established a new strategic plan for the 
period 2011 - 2013. During these three years, the bank was 
to undergo a change process to meet tomorrow’s challen-
ges. As we stand here today, at the end of this three-year 
period, I am very proud to be able to say that we have deli-
vered in all areas. Sparebanken Sør provides its customers 
with modern banking technology across all channels and 
interfaces, with a wide range of products within financial 
services and cost-effective operations.

Let us take the latter first. Despite significant investments 
in new technology, over the last few years, the bank has cut 
its costs significantly and in 2013, achieved lower nominal 
costs than the bank had in 2008! In our strategic plan, we 
set an ambitious target to reduce costs in the parent bank 
and the status at the end of the period is 0.98 per cent. If 
we add that the total loans and deposits behind each FTE 
increased by 40 per cent from MNOK 138 to 198 in the same 
period, this gives an idea of the change process the bank 
and its employees have been through.

Our banking advisors can now offer customers more than 
just the traditional banking products. Together with several 
of the other savings banks in Norway, we own product com-
panies, Frende, Norne and Brage. Over the last few years, 
Sparebanken Sør has invested time and money to be able 
to offer customers a wide range of investment, banking and 
insurance products. Sparebanken Sør has been extremely 
successful with this initiative and it is gratifying to see that 
these investments are now having a positive impact on the 
bank’s profit and balance sheet. It is also assumed that this 
initiative will be continued in the new Sparebanken Sør, and 
thereby ensure that the new bank also offers the customers 
a wide range of financial services.

In the last year, there has been a lot of talk about the new 
capital requirements for the banks and how this will be fun-
ded. Sparebanken Sør is no exception, and the new bank 
has been defined as being systematically important with 
additional capital adequacy requirements. I am pleased to 
be able to report that at the beginning of a new year Spare-
banken Sør is very well positioned to meet the new liquidity 
and capital requirements. At the end of 2013, the pure core 
capital ratio in Sparebanken Sør is 13.7 per cent.
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The housing market in our region has been challenging in 
2013. A general slowdown in the Norwegian economy, and 
lower than anticipated wage growth, combined with the po-
tential house buyers “sitting on the fence”, are probably the 
reasons for the turnaround in the housing market. Toward 
the end of 2013, we have seen signs of recovery in the glo-
bal economy, but growth remains weak. The export industry 
will be able to benefit from a weaker Norwegian krone, and 
this is also important to our region. On the other hand, oil-
related industry faces cost challenges and may have to im-
plement changes. There is considerable uncertainty about 
the development in 2014, but there are still some grounds 
for cautious optimism. 

The end of 2013 marks the start of a new era and 2014 will 
be the first year of the new Sparebanken Sør. Through our 
merger work we have built a strong foundation for the new 
bank, though some work still remains before everything is 
place. We will do our utmost to ensure that the changes are 
a positive experience for our customers and employees ali-
ke, and thereby contribute to further growth and develop-
ment in the region. New Sparebanken Sør will be a large 
and dynamic bank that thinks locally and regionally.

Geir Bergskaug
CEO

March

June

September

April - May

August

July

November

December

Announcement of 
plans to merger with 
Sparebanken Pluss

The Board of Trustees 
adopts resolution on 

merger

Recommendation of the 
merger by the Financial 
Supervisory Authority of 

Norway

Merger agreements 
drawn up

Decision on organisation 
of new Sparebanken Sør 

is made

The Norwegian 
Competition Authority 

approves the bank merger

Approval of the merger 
by the Ministry of Finance

All formal approvals are 
in place, the merger can 

go ahead on 1/1-14
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Profit & loss account in MNOK 2013 2012 2011 2010 2009

Interest and credit commission income 1 907  1 841   1 674   1 515   1 571 

Interest costs 1 097 1 137  1 044   847   948 

Net interest and credit commission income  810   704   630   668   623 

Net commission income 172 175  153   152   151 

Net income from financial instruments 12 -67  75   216   6 

Net other operating income 11 12  20   19   19 

Total other operating income  195   120   248   387   176 

Operating costs 518 511  473   459   482 

Operating result before losses  487   313   405   596   317 

Loss on loans, guarantees, etc. 98 61  71   122   109 

Profit before tax  389   252   334   474   208 

Tax cost 110 79  108   106   56 

Result from continued operations  279   173   226   368   152 

Result from discontinued operations      -4 

Profit for the year  279   173   226   368   148 

Profit and loss account as a % of average total assets 2013 2012 2011 2010 2009

Interest and credit commission income 4.10 % 4.27 % 4.26 % 4.15 % 4.43 %

Interest costs 2.36 % 2.64 % 2.65 % 2.32 % 2.67 %

Net interest and credit commission income 1.74 % 1.63 % 1.61 % 1.83 % 1.76 %

Net commission income 0.37 % 0.40 % 0.39 % 0.42 % 0.42 %

Net income from financial instruments 0.03 % -0.15 % 0.19 % 0.59 % 0.02 %

Net other operating income 0.02 % 0.03 % 0.05 % 0.05 % 0.06 %

Total other operating income 0.42 % 0.28 % 0.63 % 1.06 % 0.50 %

Operating costs 1.11 % 1.19 % 1.20 % 1.26 % 1.36 %

Operating result before losses 1.05 % 0.72 % 1.04 % 1.63 % 0.90 %

Losses on loans, guarantees, etc. 0.21 % 0.14 % 0.18 % 0.33 % 0.31 %

Profit before tax 0.84 % 0.58 % 0.86 % 1.30 % 0.59 %

Tax cost 0.24 % 0.18 % 0.27 % 0.29 % 0.16 %

Result from continued operations 0.60 % 0.40 % 0.59 % 1.01 % 0.43 %

Average total assets 46 460 43 100  39 300   36 500   35 500 

From the balance sheet     

Total assets 47 902 44 645  41 847   37 697   35 340 

Net loans 39 511  36 931   33 663   30 985   29 213 

Lending growth 7.0 % 9.6 % 8.4 % 6.1 % 2.4 %

Deposits from customers 22 476  21 023   19 058   17 319   16 971 

Deposit growth 6.9 % 10.4 % 9.9 % 2.1 % 5.6 %

Equity and related capital 3 520 3 071  2 892   2 756   2 442 

Capital adequacy ratio 14.8 % 14.0 % 15.6 % 15.5 % 15.8 %

Core capital ratio 14.6 % 14.0 % 14.2 % 14.0 % 14.1 %

Pure core capital ratio 13.7 % 13.2 % 13.3 % 13.1 % 12.1 %

Other key figures     

Costs as a % of income 51.5 % 62.0 % 53.9 % 43.5 % 60.3 %

Cost as a % of income, ex, income from financial instruments  52.2 % 57.4 % 58.9 % 54.7 % 60.8 %

Deposits as a% of gross loans 56.9 % 56.9 % 56.6 % 55.9 % 58.1 %

Net return on equity 9.1 % 6.0 % 7.9 % 15.0 % 6.5 %

No. of employees (FTE) - Group 353 375 367 363 388 

KEY FIGURES 2013-2009 (GROUP)6



Profit and loss account    

 2013 2012 2011 

 MNOK % of aver. MNOK % of aver. MNOK % of aver.

  total assets.  total assets.  total assets.

      

Interest and commission income  1 907  4.10 % 1 841 4.27 % 1 674 4.26 %

Interest costs  1 097  2.36 % 1 137 2.64 % 1 044 2.65 %

Net interest and commission income  810  1.74 % 704 1.63 % 630 1.61 %

Net commission costs  172  0.37 % 175 0.41 % 153 0.39 %

Net income from financial instruments  12  0.03 % -67 -0.16 % 75 0.19 %

Other income  11  0.02 % 12 0.03 % 20 0.05 %

Total other income  195  0.42 %  120  0.28 %  248  0.63 %

Operating costs  518  1.11 % 511 1.19 % 473 1.20 %

Result before losses  487  1.05 % 313 0.72 % 405 1.04 %

Losses  98  0.21 % 61 0.14 % 71 0.18 %

Profit before tax  389  0.84 % 252 0.58 % 334 0.86 %

Tax cost  110  0.24 % 79 0.18 % 108 0.27 %

Profit after tax  279  0.60 %  173  0.40 %  226  0.59 %

Balance sheet

Total assets  47 902    44 645    41 847  

Net loans  39 511    36 931    33 663  

Lending growth 7.0 %  9.6 %  8.4 % 

Deposits from customers  22 476    21 023    19 058  

Deposit growth 6.9 %  10.4 %  9.9 % 

Deposits as a % of net loans 56.9 %  56.9 %  56.6 % 

Equity 3 520  3 071  2 892 

Capital adequacy 14.8 %  14.0 %  15.6 % 

Core capital ratio 14.6 %  14.0 %  14.2 % 

Pure core capital ratio 13.7 %  13.2 %  13.3 % 

      

Return on net capital 9.1 %  6.0 %  7.9 % 

Result per equity certificate 9.80  6.08   

Costs as a % of income 51.5 %  62.0 %  53.9 % 

Costs as a % of income, ex. finan. instruments 52.2 %  57.4 %  58.9 % 

No. of FTE - Group 353  375  367 

KEY FIGURES - GROUP 7



DIRECTORS’ REPORT 2013

FINANCIAL FRAMEWORK CONDITIONS 2013

The situation in the Norwegian economy is still good, even 
though growth has slowed and is weaker than previously 
anticipated. In 2013, GDP growth rate was below trend, due 
to low economic growth among Norway’s trading partners, 
combined with low consumption by Norwegian households. 
On the production side, parts of the industry grew faster 
than the mainland economy as a whole. The shipbuilding 
and engineering industry have experienced positive de-
velopment, due to the scale of investments in the petrole-
um industry, whereas development has been weak in other 
parts of Norwegian industry.

Slower growth in activity meant that capacity utilisation in 
the economy normalised in 2013. The companies reported 
easier access to labour and the number of people registered 
unemployed rose slightly during the year from the lowest 
level in 2012. The employment rate is around 3.5 per cent 
of the workforce. 

In 2013, wage growth was between 3.5–4 per cent and real 
disposable household income fell slightly. The household 
saving rate has risen over time to a high level, most likely 
due, among other things, to a higher debt burden, pension 
savings, demographic changes and greater uncertainty. A 
high saving rate and weak growth in household consumpti-
on were important factors behind the slowdown in the rate 
of growth in the Norwegian economy.

Overall credit growth slowed through 2013. The corporate 
sector’s growth in domestic debt was around 4 per cent in 
the last year. Households increased their debt by 7 per cent, 
so that household debt as a percentage of disposable in-
come was still rising.  

House price growth slowed through 2013 from around 7 
per cent in 2012 to below 3 per cent according to Statis-
tics Norway’s house price index. The real estate brokerage 
business presented its own reports, which showed an even 
weaker trend, toward zero growth at the end of the year. 
The changes in the housing market were greatest in Aust 
and Vest Agder, but the prices here were adjusted down-
ward over a slightly longer period than was the situation in 
the rest of the country. The weakening in the housing mar-
ket meant that fewer properties were sold in the last year, 
at the same time as properties were taking a longer time 
to sell. 

In the last few years, a low price rise internationally combi-
ned with a strong Norwegian krone has contributed to weak 
price growth.  The Norwegian krone weakened in 2013 and 
cushioned the fall in prices on imported consumer goods. 
This, combined with other factors, such as higher rent rates 
and an increase in food prices meant that the core inflation 
was around 2 per cent in the first half-year and increased to 
around 2.5 per cent in the second half-year. The 12-month 
inflation rate was around 2 per cent. 

Monetary policy was also extremely expansive in 2013. In 
the US, Europe and in our neighbouring countries, the cen-
tral banks chose a policy of keeping key interest rates and 
money market rates low. The consequence of this was that 
Norges Bank had to keep its key rate steady through the 
year and also adjusted the interest rate path downward on 
two occasions. 

The banks mainly fund their operations using deposits and 
hybrid capital. Norwegian banks and mortgage companies 
had good access to market funding in 2013. The money 
market interest rates normalised during the year and at the 
beginning of 2014, the difference between key interest rate 
and the money market rate was around the estimated nor-
mal level of 0.25 percentage points. The credit margin for 
the banks’ ordinary money market funding also showed a 
positive trend.

SPAREBANKEN SØR GROUP’S BUSINESS

In 2013, Sparebanken Sør has been an independent finan-
cial institution that engages in banking, securities and real 
estate brokerage activities in Aust-Agder, Vest-Agder and 
Telemark. The bank has 30 branch offices and the head of-
fice is located in Arendal. Sparebanken Sør Group engages 
in sale of insurance, leasing and securities through partly 
owned product companies and also real estate brokerage 
and mortgaging through wholly owned subsidiaries ABCen-
ter and Sør Boligkreditt. 

HIGHLIGHTS

June

March
Intention to merger
On Wednesday 12 March, the boards of di-
rectors of Sparebanken Sør and Sparebanken 
Pluss announced that they had agreed on a 
letter of intent to merge the two banks.

Board of Trustees approves the merger 
plan
On Thursday 20 June 2013, the superviso-
boards of Sparebanken Sør and Sparebanken 
Pluss adopted the final decision on the mer-
ger of the two banks. The decision was unani-
mous in both Boards of Trustees.
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PROFIT FOR THE YEAR

Accounting principles
Sparebanken Sør Group’s accounts have been prepared in 
accordance with International Financial Reporting Stan-
dards, IFRS, and the accounting principles have been explai-
ned in more detail in the notes to the accounts.

The annual accounts have been based on the assumption of 
a going concern. The Group has a sound financial situation 
and in the view of the board of directors, there are no cir-
cumstances to suggest anything other than the bank’s con-
tinued operations.

The figures referred to in the annual report are group figu-
res, unless it is stated that the figures apply to the parent 
bank. 

Profit for the year
At the end of 2013, Sparebanken Sør Group’s profit before 
was MNOK 389, which is equivalent to 0.84% of the average 
total assets, compared with MNOK 252 the previous year 
and 0.58% of the total assets. The most important reasons 
for the positive profit trend are higher net interest, higher in-
come from financial instruments and a modest cost growth. 
Return on net capital after tax is 9.1% for 2013, compared 
with 6.0% in 2012. 

Due to changes in value of the shareholdings in Nets and 
Frende, totalling MNOK 172, the total profit is MNOK 456, 
which is the highest total profit in the history of the bank.

Net interest income
In 2013, net interest income was MNOK 810, compared with 
MNOK 704 in 2012, which is up MNOK 106 or 15.1% compa-
red with the previous year. This is equivalent to 1.74% of the 
average total assets, compared with 1.63% in 2012. 
An explanation for the increase is that margins improved in 

the latter half of 2012, due to a falling money market rate, 
which also formed the basis for a higher net interest income 
in 2013. In addition to this, there were the positive impact 
of growth in the total business volume and the change in 
interest rate implemented in the 2nd quarter, which meant 
that lending margins in particular improved. The reason for 
the change in interest rate was increased capital adequacy 
requirements and more stringent liquidity requirements im-
posed on the banks by regulatory requirements.  

The Group’s funding costs have shown a falling trend 
through the year. Our holding of treasury bills and covered 
bonds, which we have for liquidity purposes, is a significant 
part of the total balance sheet. As there is a relatively low 
return on this type of securities, this helps to reduce the to-
tal net interest income.

Norges Bank’s key interest rate has remained unchanged at 
1.5% the whole year.
 
Other (non-interest) income
Net fees and commission income was MNOK 172, compared 
with MNOK 175 the previous year. Measured as a percen-
tage of the average total assets, this is equivalent to 0.37%, 
compared with 0.41% in 2012.
Income from the real estate brokerage business fell, due to 
fewer units sold than in the previous year.  Within the other 
product areas there has been a growth of 13.2% or MNOK 
14.8. The growth is primarily within insurance and payment 
transfer services and reflects a high level of activity in these 
areas.

Financial instruments
Net income from financial instruments was MNOK 12, com-
pared with MNOK -67 the previous year. Measured as a 
percentage of average total assets, this is 0.03%, compared 
with -0.16% in 2012. MNOK -13 of this is due to adjustment 
in the value of the securities debt, compared with MNOK 
-125 in 2012. Other financial instruments have generated a 
net income of MNOK 25, compared with MNOK 58 in 2012. 
The reduction is primarily due to lower gains on the bond 
portfolio on the asset side. 
  
Operating costs
Group costs totalled MNOK 518, which is equivalent to 
1.11% of the average total assets, compared with MNOK 
511 and 1.19% in 2012. If the merger costs are not included, 
the ratio is 1.09%.  Costs measured against income, exclu-
ding the result of financial instruments, also show a positive 
trend, from 57.4% in 2012 to 52.2% in 2013.

January 
2014

November

Sparebanken Sør and Sparebanken Pluss are 
one bank from 1 January

The Ministry of Finance approves the 
merger
On Friday 15 November, Sparebanken Sør 
and Sparebanken Pluss received the necessa-
ry authorisation from the Ministry of Finance 
to be able to go ahead with the merger.
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There has been a moderate increase in personnel costs, 
due to the full year impact of an increase in the number of 
personnel in strategic priority areas and establishment of a 
branch in Skien. At year-end, the total number of employees 
in the Group was 353 FTE, of which 37 FTE are in ABCenter.
   
Credit losses and commitments in default
At year-end, net losses amounted to MNOK 98, which is 
equivalent to 0.25% of net loans. Most of the losses are due 
to two individual commitments. 

Collective write-downs have been reduced by MNOK 26 du-
ring the year and are now MNOK 102. The reason for this 
is increased individual write-downs during the year and a 
positive trend in the risk picture for the rest of the portfolio. 
  
At year-end 2013, net defaulted and bad and doubtful loans 
were MNOK 431, which is equivalent to 1.09% of the loans. 
Compared with the previous year-end, this is up MNOK 23, 
but is down 0.01 percentage points measured as a percen-
tage of the loans.

BALANCE SHEET

Total assets
At year-end 2013, total assets were BNOK 47.9, compared 
with BNOK 44.6 in the previous year. This is an increase of 
BNOK 3.3 or 7.4%.

Total loans
Net loans are BNOK 39.5, compared with BNOK 36.9 in 2012, 
which is a growth of 7.0%, compared with 9.6% in 2012. 

In the retail banking market, growth has been 9.8%, 
compared with 11.6% in 2012. On a national level, household 
lending growth has been around 7.0%. In 2013, there has 
also been significant lending activity and good demand for 
loans. Sør Boligkreditt AS is an important instrument in order 
to be able to offer competitive terms in the retail banking 
market. At year-end, BNOK 11.9 in loans was transferred 
to the company. Maintaining a strong position in the retail 
banking market is an important priority area for the bank. 

In the corporate market, we have had a growth of 0.8%, 
compared with 5.5% in 2012. On a national level, lending 
growth in the corporate market is 3.7%. The growth in the 
corporate market as a whole is a consequence of adjust-
ments made through the year to adjust the portfolio to the 
desired risk profile and sector composition.    

Stronger growth in the retail banking market than in the cor-
porate market has meant that the retail banking market’s 
share of the loans has increased from 69.4% in 2012 to 
71.1% at year-end 2013.

Deposits
At year-end, deposits totalled BNOK 22.5, which represents 
a growth of BNOK 1.5 or 6.9%, compared with 10.4% in 2012. 

In the retail banking market growth has been 9.8%, 
compared with 9.1% in 2012. Deposits in the retail banking 
market have shown a steady and positive trend through the 
year, despite strong competition for deposits.  
In the corporate market, deposit growth has been 3.5%, 
compared with 12.0% in 2012. The corporate market 
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deposit portfolio is composed of significantly few and 
larger individual deposits than in the retail banking market. 
From experience, these can be more volatile from period to 
period compared with the retail banking market.

Measured as a percentage, deposit growth has been almost 
the same as lending growth. Debt-to-loan ratio has there-
fore remained stable from 2012 to 2013 and at year-end is 
56.9%.

Debt established through issue of securities and liabi-
lities to financial situations
Besides customer deposits, this is the bank’s most important 
source of funding. 
At year-end, debt established through issue of securities in-
creased by BNOK 2.5 to BNOK 19.9. The maturity structure 
of the loans is well-adjusted to the business. New long-term 
loans are established through issue of covered bonds and 
senior debt. Access to funding has been good through the 
year.
 
Other external funding comes from loans in Norges Bank 
and through the swap scheme for covered bonds. At year-
end, this item has been reduced by BNOK 1.1 to BNOK 1.5. 

Securities
At year-end, the Group’s portfolio of bonds and certificates 
totalled BNOK 6.4, which is up MNOK 609 compared with 
2012. The portfolio is the bank’s most important liquid 
reserve. The bank’s liquidity situation is very reassuring. 
Bonds equivalent to BNOK 1.5 of the total portfolio lies has 
security for loans from Norges Bank.

Investments in shares and equity certificates constitute a 
relatively modest share of the balance sheet. In total, this 
amounted to MNOK 523, including MNOK 354 shares in 
Nets and Frende and MNOK 31 in equity certificates in the 
trading portfolio.

Equity and related capital
At year-end, the Group’s equity and related capital was 
BNOK 3.7. After supply of the profit for the year, equity share 
capital totalled MNOK 632 and primary capital BNOK 2.5.  In 
addition, the bank has hybrid capital totalling MNOK 200. 
With a risk-weighted calculation basis (Basel II Standard 
Method) of BNOK 24.0 at year-end, the capital adequacy 
ratio is 14.8% and core capital adequacy is 14.5%. Tier 1 
capital ratio is 13.7%.

ALLOCATION OF PROFIT FOR THE YEAR

In the view of the board of directors, the presented financial 
statements give a fair view of the Group and the parent 
bank’s position and result. The board of directors is not 
aware of any circumstances that have arisen after the turn 
of the year, which would change its view in this respect.

The parent bank’s profit after tax of MNOK 156.0 is proposed 
allocated as follows:

Dividend                                                                   MNOK     29.7
Transferred to donations fund                             MNOK     12.5
Transferred to the equalisation reserve            MNOK       3.4
Transferred to primary capital                            MNOK   110.4
Total transferred                                                     MNOK   156.0  
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RETAIL BANKING MARKET

The retail banking market division has had a positive trend in 
2013, with strong growth, good sales activity within financial 
services, higher interest rate margin and modest losses.

In the last 12 months, the division has increased its loans, inclu-
ding mortgages in Sør Boligkreditt, by 9.8%, at the same time 
as deposits have increased by 9.8%. Customer growth in the 
retail banking market has been significant through the year. 
The growth comes as a result of general market growth, in ad-
dition to an increase in market shares. Long-term focus on pro-
viding qualified advice has contributed positively to the strong 
growth. The same applies to our focus on distribution through 
digital channels and maintaining a local presence.

Growth in commission income is related to income from sale of 
insurance, investment products and MasterCard. This commis-
sion income is 13.3% of the division’s result and is rising. Increa-
sed product sales are a direct result of the strategic change that 
began 3 years ago, where focus on providing financial advice 
has been a key part of this. Sparebanken Sør has 110 customer 
advisers who are authorised financial advisers (AFR). Automa-
tion of cash handling and opening of a customer service centre 
are important elements in the change, which have both contri-
buted positively in 2013.  

CORPORATE MARKET

In the corporate market, the bank had a lending growth of 0.8% 
in 2013. The low level of growth is a consequence of the targeted 
efforts to reduce the bank’s exposure to commercial property and 
building & construction. At the same time, there has been even 
stronger focus on reducing the risk in the portfolio than in previous 
years. At year-end, loans to corporate customers totalled 29% of 
the bank’s loans, while deposits in the corporate market increased 
by 3.5%.

Commercial activity in the region is still good, but that bank ob-
serves that particularly in the wholesale and retail trade there are 
many businesses that are struggling. At the end of the year, it was 
also clear the developers and other parties involved in the sale of 
residential property experienced more adverse market conditions. 
There is a strong competitive situation between the banks in 
the region and the bank has registered that some parties have 
a much greater risk appetite than was the case in the first few 

years after the financial crisis. However, the bank managed to 
improve its lending margin in 2013. 

The bank managed to defend its strong position in the coun-
ties of Agder in 2013 and increased its market share in Tele-
mark. The trend has been particularly good in Grenland with 
many new corporate customers. The bank’s corporate market 
has been divided into three regions: one in each county, and at 
year-end, the total number of employees is 39. 

The leasing company, Brage Finans had its third year of opera-
tion in 2013. Sparebanken Sør is one of several savings banks 
among the owners and the cooperation in Southern Norway 
and Telemark between Brage and the bank has functioned very 
well. This contributes to increased profitability both in Brage 
and the bank.

Modest growth in the economy in the region is expected in 
2014, but there is greater uncertainty relating to the trend in 
whole and retail and building and construction. 

CAPITAL MARKET

Capital Markets manages the Group’s activities within liquidity 
management, long-term funding, securities trading and inter-
national payment transfer services. The division is divided into 
business areas Sør Markets and Treasury.

Sør Markets
Sør Markets manages customer-related trading in foreign cur-
rency, shares and interest rate products and also payment 
transfer services. Securities trading is a strategic priority area. 
Foreign currency, share and interest rate products are impor-
tant elements which together with good advice satisfy the 
needs of key customer groups. The initiative contributes to a 
desired diversification of the Group’s income.

Treasury
Treasury manages the Group’s liquidity management, long-
term funding and financial investments. The business is rooted 
in a conservative liquidity strategy with focus on having a high 
percentage of long-term funding and good deposit-to-loan ra-
tio. The strategy also emphasises that liquidity buffers are large 
enough to ensure the bank’s survival for at least 12 months of 
normal operations and without access to new external funding.    
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SUBSIDIARIES AND ASSOCIATED COMPANIES

In 2008, the bank established Sør Boligkreditt AS, as its 
enterprise for issue of covered bonds. The mortgage company 
is an important tool in adapting to future framework conditions 
and for strengthening our focus on the retail banking market 
through providing reasonable funding. At year-end, a total of 
BNOK 11.9 was transferred to the company and the average 
debt-to-asset ratio was 55.7%. At year-end, covered bonds 
totalling BNOK 11.1 had been issued and the cover pool totalled 
BNOK 13.0, of which BNOK 11.8 was mortgages. Gross loans 
secured by mortgages and other receivables included in the 
cover pool, totalled 117% of the issued bonds in the company. 
In 2013, the company had a profit before tax of MNOK 168 and 
a return on net capital of 19.1%. At year-end, capital adequacy 
was 15.1%. The company has entered into an agreement with 
the parent bank, which involves loan management, group 
services and treasury functions, etc. Due to the merger between 
Sparebanken Sør and Sparebanken Pluss, Sør Boligkreditt AS 
and Pluss Boligkreditt AS will be merged during the 1st quarter 
2014.

Up to 31 December 2013, the bank owned 100% of the shares 
in ABCenter Holding AS, which was the parent company in the 
real estate brokerage chain ABCenter. The company had 10 
branches in the counties of Aust and Vest Agder. 
In 2013, the company sold 1,032 units – including new builds, 
second-hand properties, holiday homes and commercial 
buildings – all at an aggregate value of BNOK 2.6.
ABCenter merged Plussmegleren with effect from 1 January 
2014 and the real estate brokerage business will continue 
under the name Sørmegleren. The bank owns 100% of the new 
company, but the intention is that Sørlandet Boligbyggelag will 
enter as a minority owner in the new company. 
Rettighetskompaniet AS manages the naming rights to Sør 
Arena.

The bank’s other subsidiaries mainly manage commercial 
properties where the bank has its operations.
Refer to note 18 for a full list of subsidiaries and ownership 
interests.

PARTLY-OWNED PRODUCT COMPANIES

Brage Finans
Brage Finans offers the bank’s corporate customers leasing, se-
cured loans and business loans. Brage Finans is owned by 10 
independent savings banks and the Sparebanken Sør Group has 
a 14% stake.

Frende Forsikring  
Frende Forsikring offers the bank’s retail banking and corpo-
rate customers good general insurance and life insurance pro-
ducts. Frende Forsikring is owned by 14 independent savings 
banks and the Sparebanken Sør Group has a 10% stake.

Norne Securities
Norne Securities offers the bank’s customers online trading in 
shares, traditional broker and corporate finance services. Nor-
ne Securities is owned by 14 independent savings banks and 
also Must Invest ASand the Sparebanken Sør Group has a 17.6% 
stake.

RISK MANAGEMENT
Risk management ensures that the Group’s risk exposure is 
known at any time and is instrumental in helping the Group to 
achieve its strategic objectives, and also compliance with laws, 
regulations and regulatory requirements.
A framework has been defined for the Group’s risk appetite and 
specific management objectives, with targets/limits and risk to-
lerance, have been set for each type of risk. Systems have been 
established to calculate, manage and control risk. The Group 
will have a well-diversified portfolio on both sides of the ba-
lance sheet, and a risk that is adjusted to its capital adequacy 
and profitability. 

The Group’s risk exposure is monitored through periodic re-
ports to the group management and board of directors. Overall 
risk management and reporting are carried out by Risk Mana-
gement, who report directly to the CEO.

Credit risk
Credit risk is defined as the risk of loss due to customers or co-
unterparties failing to meet their obligations.

Credit risk is managed through the Group’s strategy and policy 
documents, credit procedures and processes and loan granting 
authority. These factors constitute the overall guidelines for the 
Group’s lending.
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The credit strategy is agreed annually by the board of directors 
and comprises credit policy guidelines, and also management 
objectives for risk profile and concentrations in the Group. 
Management objectives have been set for the portfolio and 
concentration risk and limits have been set for key and indi-
vidual customers. Risk management objectives are monitored 
and reported periodically to the board of directors. The Group 
has developed and actively uses different risk classification 
and pricing models in credit processes and in portfolio mana-
gement of the retail banking and corporate market.

The board of directors is responsible for the Group’s lending 
and has delegated authority limits to the CEO, who within his 
authority has delegated authority further down the organisa-
tion. Credit management procedures, credit policy and the risk 
classification models set requirements for the credit processes 
to be used and the analyses to be carried out in connection with 
granting loans and following-up retail banking and corporate 
market commitments. The authorisations are related to exper-
tise, market, size of commitment and risk. The Group’s Credit 
Committee is used when handling large and/or complex com-
mitments.

Market risk
Market risk is the risk of loss due to unfavourable changes in 
interest and exchange rates and market prices in the equity 
market. 

The market risk management strategy ensures that the business 
is run in accordance with the Group’s overall strategy plan and 
that risk is reflected in the return. The board of directors has set 
management objectives for investments in shares, bonds and 
positions in the interest rate and foreign currency market. Com-
pliance with the management objectives is monitored by Risk 
Management and monthly reports are submitted to the group 
management and board of directors.  

At year-end, the Group’s total share investments were MNOK 
523, including MNOK 31 in the trading portfolio. Among the lar-
gest items are Nets Holding, Eksportfinans and also ownership 
interests in the partly-owned product companies Frende Forsik-
ring, Norne Securities and Brage Finans.

Most of the Group’s interest rate risk is associated with the 
bank’s portfolio of interest-bearing securities, fixed rate loans 
and deposits. The board of directors has set a limit of MNOK 
25 for the total interest rate on and off the balance sheet. On 
average for the year, around 18% of the agreed limit for the in-
terest rate risk was used and at year-end, the bank’s net interest 
position was MNOK 3. 

The Group was affected by fluctuations in the foreign currency 
market. The most important balance sheet items are foreign 
currency loans to customers and subordinated loans in foreign 
currency. Foreign currency items will mainly be secured using 
forward exchange contracts, currency swaps or funding in the 
same currency. The total currency risk limit is MNOK 10 and at 
year-end around 67% had been used. 

Funding risk
Funding risk is the risk that the Group is unable to meet its obli-
gations or is not able to fund normal growth in assets.

Funding risk is managed through the Group’s liquidity strategy 
and policy, procedures, guidelines and authorisations. Impor-
tant operational management parameters are the liquidity in-
dicator for long-term funding (NSFR, Net Stable Funding Ratio) 
and liquidity reserves (LCR, Liquidity Coverage Ratio). NSFR 
measures to what extent the banks have established long-term 
funding for their lending operations. LCR measures to what ex-
tent the banks have a buffer of liquid assets to survive a 30-day 
period of refinancing problems. The funding risk is also limited 
by good deposit-to-loan ration, and also by spreading borro-
wing from the capital market among different periods of matu-
rity, markets, borrowing sources and instruments. 

Deposits from customers are the most important and stable 
source of funding. The board of directors emphasises that the 
relationship between deposits from and loans must be satis-
factory and adjusted to the Group’s total funding situation. Sør 
Boligkreditt has become an important funding instrument and 
meets a significant part of the Group’s funding requirements 
through issue of covered bonds. This provides a good and stea-
dy supply of long-term funding on favourable terms. 

The Group has significant liquidity reserves, such as liquid 
securities, drawing rights in Norges Bank and a loan-free 
mortgage portfolio in Sør Boligkreditt. The bank also has 
mortgages that are ready for ready for transfer to the mortgage 
company. Drawing rights in Norges Bank total BNOK 1.4, 
none of which have been used at year-end. Liquid, unpledged 
securities consisting of government securities, other zero-
weighted securities and municipal bonds total BNOK 3.8. 

During the year, the liquidity indicator for long-term funding 
has increased from 110.1 to 110.5, while the last known figure 
for comparable banks was 103.5. In its discussion document on 
the criteria for systematically important banks, the Financial 
Supervisory Authority of Norway proposes that the liquidity 
indicator for such banks is set at 110 with effect from 1 July 
2015. The Financial Supervisory Authority of Norway proposed 
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that the merged Sparebanken Sør is defined as a systematically 
important bank. 

In addition to an increase in the percentage of long-term fun-
ding, as mentioned, the Group has also accumulated significant 
liquidity reserves. Available liquidity reserves indicate that with 
normal operations, the Group can survive for 18 months wit-
hout a new supply of capital from the market. 
The bank’s short-term funding risk is managed, among other 
things, by using the LCR indicator. The bank has fully implemen-
ted the requirement to have liquidity reserves which are suffici-
ent in a stressful situation to be able to meet all obligations in 
the following 30 days. At the end of 2013, the LCR indicator for 
Sparebanken Sør is 98.4%. The Basel Committee and EU plan a 
gradual phasing in from 1 January 2015 starting at 60%, while 
the Financial Supervisory Authority of Norway wants to impose 
that systematically important banks have 100% fulfilment as 
early as 1 July 2015. 

Operational risk
Operational risk is defined as the risk of losses resulting from 
inadequate or failing internal processes, procedures or sys-
tems, human error, crime or external events. Operational risk 
management is based on “Operational Risk Strategy”. Opera-
tional risk is managed through skills training, good systems and 
procedures, good internal control and quality assurance. Mana-
gement objectives have been set for operational risk. 

Annual risk assessments are conducted for all relevant risk are-
as in the Group. These form the basis for preparation of mana-
gement plans, follow-up and handling operational risk.

Strategic management objectives and risk development are 
monitored through event databases and also interim reports to 
the group management and board of directors.

There are no significant weaknesses that have an impact on the 
Group’s risk and capital adequacy.

Compliance
The Group is keen to have good processes to ensure compliance 
with applicable laws and regulations. Work is ongoing to assess 
the best adaptation to new regulations in order to maintain com-
pliance and efficiency in the organisation. New regulations that 
have an impact on the Group’s operations are implemented in 
the bank’s procedures and guidelines.

Risk Management and Compliance, which is organised indepen-
dently of the business units, has overall responsibility for fram-
eworks, follow-up and reporting within the area of compliance.

Ownership risk
Ownership risk is the risk that the Group will incur negative 
results from ownership interests in owned companies and / 
or must supply new equity to these companies. Ownership is 
defined as companies where Sparebanken Sør has significant 
ownership or influence.

The management and boards of directors of subsidiaries will 
be protected in accordance with the provisions of the Limited 
Companies Act. Several of the companies use managers and / 
or employees from the Group on the board of directors or in 
other functions. 

Ownership risk is primarily associated with the Group’s real 
estate brokerage business ABCenter AS, and also the limited li-
ability company that owns a few commercial properties where 
Sparebanken Sør is located.

Capital management
Capital management will ensure that the Group has capital 
adequacy that meets the regulatory requirements and that en-
sures good financial stability and a satisfactory return in rela-
tion to the risk profile.

The Group will have capital adequacy that provides a good 
foundation to ensure market opportunities and ambitions and 
which provide a good supply of long and short-term funding. 
The capital adequacy must be robust have reserves to survive a 
serious, but realistic economic downturn. 
The Group’s capital adequacy is followed-up through periodic 
reporting to the group management and board of directors.

RATING

Moodys has given the bank an A3 rating. On 3 July, Moodys pla-
ced the Sparebanken Sør Group’s A3 rating under review for 
upgrade due to the impending merger with Sparebanken Pluss. 
Moodys expects to conclude during the first half-year 2014.
Covered bonds issued by Sør Boligkreditt have an Aaa rating, 
which is expected to be maintained

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE

The Sparebanken Sør Group’s corporate governance principles 
and policy are based on the applicable Norwegian Code of 
Practice for Corporate Governance, prepared by the Norwegian 
Corporate Governance Board (NUES). The Financial Supervisory 
Authority of Norway’s principles module for evaluation of over-
all management and control, which reflects the principles from 
the European Banking Authority (EBA), are used wherever these 
are relevant to the Group. See also the full report on corporate 
governance in the annual report. 
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RESEARCH AND DEVELOPMENT

The Group does not conduct any research. All development 
work in the Group focuses on the IT area, innovation and busi-
ness development.

SOCIAL RESPONSIBILITY

In the last few years, there has been increasing awareness that 
the business community has a responsibility to society over and 
above making a profit. NGOs Finance Norway (FNO), the Nor-
wegian Savings Banks Association and the Confederation and 
Norwegian Enterprises have put corporate social responsibility 
high on the agenda. 

The Sparebanken Sør Group’s social responsibility is also reflec-
ted in the bank’s vision to enrich life in the region. The Spare-
banken Sør Group is part of the local communities in the coun-
ties of Agder and Telemark and makes all decisions from here. 
Through our banking operations, we contribute to value crea-
tion and growth for people and businesses. We also give some 
of our profit back in the form of donations and initiatives for the 
benefit of the local communities. In other words: the values we 
create remain locally for the benefit of the region.

Climate challenges
Over several years, the bank has defined climate challenges 
has a strategic priority area and has worked on climate issues 
together with business community in the region, among other 
things, through membership in Climate Partners. Through this 
network, the bank has had access to best practice from compa-
nies the bank would like to compare itself with and inspiration 
in development of the bank’s value creation in a sustainable 
tripartite perspective; economic value creation, social respon-
sibility and respect for the environment and climate. Through 
its activities for the public benefit, the bank collaborates on a 
number of projects connected with the challenges that climate 
change brings.

Human rights
All the Sparebanken Sør Group’s operations are located in Nor-
way and the bank has no foreign branches, employees abroad 
or customers of importance with addresses outside Norway. 
The few corporate customers registered with NUF or Ltd are 
reviewed in particular.
The enterprise’s guidelines, principles, procedures and stan-
dards are influenced by its limited geographical operations. 
The Sparebanken Sør Group has not developed a policy for how 
to integrate consideration for human rights, employee rights 
and social conditions other than what has been regulated in the 

bank’s personnel policy guidelines, code of conduct, HSE guid-
elines, IA (Inclusive Workplace) agreement and in the contrac-
tual relationships between the parties in banking and finance.  
Human rights, employee rights and social conditions follow the 
standard and what is required of Norwegian enterprises, geo-
graphically located in Norway and employees in these.

Anti-money laundering and terrorist financing
The bank has its own anti-money laundering procedures and 
terrorist financing measures. The person in charge of the anti-
money laundering in the bank manages this work and all em-
ployees in contact with customers have attended courses and 
training in anti-money laundering. The anti-money laundering 
procedures govern relations with customers and a number of 
checks and reporting to Økokrim (National Authority for In-
vestigation and Prosecution of Economic and Environmental 
crime) are made during the year. The bank also has strict requi-
rements as regards identification when establishing new custo-
mer relationships.

Code of ethics and anti-corruption measures
According to the bank’s code of ethics, employees must act with 
diligence and honesty. Employees should endeavour to have a 
behaviour that is trustworthy and according to applicable stan-
dards, laws and regulations. This will affect all our activities so 
that the bank achieves market confidence and ensures its com-
petitive and power and reputation. The code of ethics shows 
the expectations and requirements the Sparebanken Sør Group 
has for its employees’ conduct and behaviour. Management, 
employees, employee representatives, temporary personnel 
and hired consultants must follow the code of ethics. Everyone 
who must follow these standards must not conduct themselves 
in a manner that weakens confidence in the Sparebanken Sør 
Group. Employees are obliged to register gifts from customers / 
other external parties in a separate gift book. Travel, especially 
abroad, is checked as regards possible bribery and tax consequ-
ences. Travel for employees initiated by suppliers to the bank 
must be approved by a superior. If there is suspicion of financial 
benefits / e.g. kickbacks to employees, each person’s accounts 
will be checked immediately.

PERSONNEL AND WORKING ENVIRONMENT

At the end of 2013, there were 311 FTE in the bank and 353 FTE 
in the Group. The overall manning level in the bank has been 
reduced from 328 FTE due to staffing reductions that were ap-
proved by the board of directors in the autumn of 2011. There 
has been significant focus on human resources development 
in 2013. The bank has developed its own internal “school” for 
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training and development. In 2013, the focus has been on the 
authorisation scheme for financial advisers, credit manage-
ment for employees who work with corporate customers and a 
development program for new managers.   

The bank has continuous focus on the working environment. 
This is important in order to create good results and to provide 
a good, competitive workplace for employees and manage-
ment. 
Sickness absence is at a stable level and in 2013, was at 3.6%, 
which is down from 3.7% in 2012. Sickness absence is divided 
into 0.6% short-term absence and 3.0% long-term absence. The 
Sparebanken Sør Group is an Inclusive Workplace and works 
actively to protect the interests in the Anti-Discrimination Act. 
The bank arranges so that employees with disabilities are able 
to remain in their job. New buildings and alterations have a uni-
versal design so that everyone is able to use them on an equal 
footing, as far as this is possible, with special adaptations or 
technical aids.

The bank has a good working environment. Systems and proce-
dures are in accordance with the requirements set forth in the 
“Health, Safety and Environment Regulations”. The main focus 
areas for the HSE work in 2013 have been robbery and secu-
rity drills, refurbishment of bank premises, safety inspections 
and general environmental questions. Collaboration between 
the senior safety delegate, occupational health service and the 
Group’s HR department has been good and cases put forward 
have been solved at the lowest possible level and as quickly 
as possible. Annual employee appraisals have been carried out 
and through these the bank obtains important input for de-
velopment of the organisation and each employee.

GENDER EQUALITY

The Sparebanken Sør Group has a long-term objective to pro-
mote gender equality. The bank has a total of 341 employees, 
of which 186 are women and 155 men. At present, 39.5% of the 
corporate management team are women. The bank has an ob-
jective to increase the percentage of women in executive posts.

In the bank’s supervisory bodies, 25% of the Board of Trustees 
and 44% of the board of directors are women

EXTERNAL ENVIRONMENT

An important part of our social responsibility is to be aware of 
our impact on nature, the climate and the environment around 
us.  Therefore, the bank has prepared an environmental report 

to be able to identify emissions, quantify pollution and enable 
us to implement targeted measures. 
The purpose is to provide a basis for assessment of the company in 
an environmental context, and to work systematically to our impact 
on the external environment. The Sparebanken Sør Group has map-
ped its carbon footprint since 2008 and purchases UN-approved 
CER quotas annually to compensate for our total CO2 emissions.
The analysis has been based on the international standard «A 
Corporate Accounting and Reporting Standard», which has been 
developed by «the Greenhouse Gas Protocol Initiative» – the 
GHG protocol. ISO standard 14064-I has been based on this.
Our reporting covers consumption relating to transport, energy, 
waste and air travel. An important principle is that we seek to re-
duce our environmental impact and take steps to curb consump-
tion that has the greatest environmental impact.
The Group does not use input factors or production methods that 
directly pollute the external environment. The Group has a wi-
dely differentiated corporate portfolio. Several of the companies 
to which the Group has provided loans engage in activities that 
will have an impact on the external environment. Through len-
ding, the Group has direct impact on the external environment 
and therefore this situation is assessed in connection with the 
Group’s credit handling process. 
The Group’s head office and Arendal branch have an “Environ-
mental Lighthouse Certificate”. The bank is not aware of having 
had any environmental impact other than the consumption that 
can be translated into CO2, and therefore, has no reporting of 
discharges to soil, water or noise emissions.

DONATIONS TO GOOD CAUSES

Pursuant to the Savings Bank Act, savings banks in Norway may 
allocate some of their profit after tax and dividend to good causes. 
In recent years, the Sparebanken Sør Group has defined donations 
as a strategic priority area. When awarding donations, the bank is 
concerned that chosen projects benefit the community in some 
way. In this way, making donations provides the opportunity to 
stimulate growth and development in society and the business 
community. A sustainable society and business community forms 
the basis for the bank’s future financial results. Donations give the 
bank a competitive advantage and are important in building the 
bank’s reputation.

From the 2012 accounts, MNOK 15 was allocated to good causes 
in 2013. The allocations to good causes in 2013 focused especially 
on projects involving the climate, social development, culture and 
sport. The local bank managers have allocated 30% of the dona-
tion funds, which has secured our local image.  The board of direc-
tors has proposed allocation of MNOK 12.5 of the bank’s profit to 
donations in 2014.

17



OUTLOOK FOR 2014

The euro area has come out of a period of recession and the 
economy is showing weak, but positive signs of growth. Unem-
ployment has levelled off, albeit at a high level. However, near-
zero key rates and tight fiscal policies that inhibit economic 
growth provide little financial scope and the growth prospects 
for the Eurozone are positive, but limited in the short-term.

The counter-cyclicality in the Norwegian economy in 2013 
will mostly likely continue in 2014. The growth impulses from 
Norway’s trading partners will also be small in the coming year. 
The unrest in parts of Eastern Europe may also have an impact 
on the economic and political development in our region. If the 
rate of activity in the oil industry slows down, the Norwegian 
labour market could weaken further. A slightly more expansive 
fiscal policy could cushion the development.
Growth in wages, consumption and savings will most likely 
follow the same rate as in 2013. It must also be assumed that 
house prices will level off further and that household credit de-
mand will decline.
 
Various forecasts have been presented that indicate a lower 
level of activity in the oil industry in 2014 and particularly in 
2015. The importance of the petroleum industry for the Norwe-
gian economic is greater than ever and lower investment acti-
vity would haven on knock-on effects on the level of activity in 
Norway. 

The weak international development will also have a negative 
impact on the future profitability of business investments and 
this is expected to result in lower investment growth and credit 
demand. 

Norges Bank’s key policy rate has remained stable at 1.5 per 
cent since the spring of 2012. The economic situation in many 
countries coupled with an aggressive monetary policy indicates 
that the key rate will not change significantly in the near future. 
However, Norges Bank expects economic conditions around 
the world to improve and that international key rates will have 
to be raised at some point in 2015. The latter applies in par-
ticular to the US, where to a certain extent the Central Bank 
has started normalisation of the monetary policy as a result of 
positive signs of moderate economic growth.

There is uncertainty about how the risk margins for the banks’ 
funding will develop. Turbulence in the market and uncertainty 
about monetary policy in Europe and the US will have an im-
pact on the risk margins. Implementation of the Bank Recovery 
and Resolution Directive in the EU (bail-in) could also increase 

the spreads. However, Norwegian banks have shown very good 
results, among other things, due to cost-effectiveness and low 
credit losses. Norwegian banks also establish other equity and 
related capital through issues to the market. A natural consequ-
ence of having higher capital adequacy is that it is possible to 
maintain the low credit margin for the banks’ funding.

Money market rates and risk margins affect the banks’ lending 
rates and regulatory requirements, such as more stringent capi-
tal and liquidity requirements will have an impact on pricing. 
However, lending rates are also directly affected by the com-
petition in the bank market. As lower credit demand is anticipa-
ted, it is possible to assume that there will also be strong com-
petition in the Norwegian bank market in 2014.
In the wake of the financial crisis, the authorities have prepared 
guidelines which require that the banks increase the quantity 
and quality of bank capital. The so-called Basel III rules require 
the banks to maintain extensive capital buffers, which must be 
covered by pure core capital (equity).

In June 2013, the Norwegian Storting adopted the introduc-
tion of more stringent capital adequacy rules for the Norwe-
gian banks. The capital requirement is basically 9 per cent 
with an assumption of significant escalation over time. Under 
the proposal, the merged Sparebanken Sør – with total assets 
of around BNOK 94 at the time of merger – will be defined as 
a “systematically important bank”. The afore-mentioned plan 
includes special capital buffer requirements for a selection of 
so-called systematically important banks, with an additional 
margin of 2–3 percentage points.

In October 2013, the regulations on counter-cyclical buffers 
were established and the Norwegian banks are now required 
to maintain a counter-cyclical buffer of 1 per cent of the calcu-
lation basis with effect 1 July 2015. The counter-cyclical buffer 
could be varied over time with a notice period of one year. 

In addition to the new capital requirements, the EU authorities 
have wanted to harmonise the international requirements for 
the banks’ liquidity risk management. The new quantitative li-
quidity requirements under Basel III consist of a liquidity buffer 
requirement (Liquidity Coverage Ratio) and a stable funding 
requirement (Net Stable Funding Ratio). The LCR measures to 
what extent the banks have a buffer of liquid assets to survive a 
severe cash outflow for at least 30 days. NSFR measures to what 
extent the banks have established long-term funding to match 
their medium and long-term lending. Within EU, new guidelines 
require to a greater extent that the banks inform of their liqui-
dity position. 
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Following the financial crisis, the authorities have also wor-
ked on drawing up harmonised regulations to be able to deal 
with banks in crisis. EU’s Bank Recovery and Resolution Di-
rective, which is expected to be adopted in the spring of 2014 
and should enter into force in 2015, contains bail-in guidelines, 
which allow the authorities to write-down and convert a bank’s 
liabilities to share capital. Some of a bank’s liabilities consist of 
deposits from customers and a principle has been established 
whereby it is not possible to convert or write-down deposits 
guaranteed under the deposit guarantee scheme.

EU’s Bank Recovery and Resolution Directive will also apply to 
EEA member states. The current system for dealing with bank-
ing crises in Norway is founded on the Guarantee Schemes Act. 
The act allows the authorities to write-down a bank’s share 
capital if all or most of the capital is lost.  However, under the 
Guarantee Schemes Act it is not possible to convert a bank’s 
liabilities without the creditors’ acceptance. This means that 
introduction of the bail-in concept in Norway will require legis-
lative changes.

The Norwegian authorities consider Norwegian banks to be 
well position to meet the authorities’ capital requirements. 
Adjustment to the new liquidity requirements is currently in the 
start-up phase partly because parts of the regulations have not 
been finally specified yet. New capital requirements coupled 
with the requirement to maintain a significant quantity of 
liquid assets will have an impact on management of the banks’ 

ordinary operations in future. 
2013 is Sparebanken Sør’s last year of “independence” before 
the merger with Sparebanken Pluss. Formally, Sparebanken 
Pluss is the acquiring and continuing bank and will continue 
its operations with Sparebanken Sør under the new name 
Sparebanken Sør.  The new bank will have operations in 40 
towns and communities in the counties of Agder and Telemark 
and will also provide a broad range of financial services through 
affiliated companies. In sum, this will ensure a competitive 
advantage and customer proximity.
The merger went ahead as planned at the turn of the year and 
the operations will be integrated within a relatively short time. 
The scenarios and assumptions on which the merger agreement 
was based are all largely in place, and it with great optimism 
the merged bank enters 2014. 

It is on this basis that the board of directors assumes that the 
bank’s operating result for 2014 will also be satisfactory.

CLOSING REMARKS

The board of directors would like to thank the bank’s staff and 
employee representatives for yet another good year for the 
bank. At the same time, the board of directors would also like to 
thank the bank’s customers, equity certificate holders and other 
business relations for supporting the bank and for the confiden-
ce they have shown in the bank over the last year. 

Kristiansand, 31 December 2013/14 March 2014

 Stein Hannevik Torstein Moland Trond Bjørnenak Inger Johansen Siss Ågedal Jill Akselsen

 Chairman Deputy Chairman

 Marit Kittilsen Erling Holm Bente Pedersen Per Adolf Bentsen  Geir Bergskaug

      CEO

19



  PARENT BANK     GROUP

 2011 2012 2013 MNOK Notes 2013 2012 2011

  1 612   1 621   1 559  Interest and similar income   4,23  1 907   1 841   1 674 

  1 027   1 040   950  Interest and similar costs 4,16,23  1 097   1 137   1 044 

  585   581   609  Net interest and credit commission income 4,13  810   704   630 

  142   170   190  Commission and income from banking services  5  201   202   181 

  28   27   29  Commission costs and costs relating to banking services 6  29   27   28 

  114   143   161  Net fees and commission income 13  172   175   153 

    Income from financial instruments at fair value    

  27   -35   -7  th value changes through P&L account 7  1   -86   61 

    Write-down and gains/losses on investments valued at      

  -16   -4   -7  cost or investment designated as available for sale 7  -6   -2   -14 

  28   21   17  Income from financial instruments 7  17   21   28 

  39   -18   3  Net income from financial instruments   12   -67   75 

  14   6   6  Other operating income 9  11   12   20 

  167   131   170  Total operating income 13  195   120   248 

  220   245   260  Personnel costs 21,22  299   284   256 

  19   21   18  Deprec. and write-down on fixed and intangible assets  19  23   27   25 

  170   181   186  Other operating costs 8,9  196   200   192 

  409   447   464  Total operating costs 13  518   511   473 

  343   265   315  Operating result before losses 13  487   313   405 

  71   61   96  Losses on loans, guarantees, etc. 14  98   61   71 

  272   204   219  Profit before tax 13  389   252   334 

  90   66   63  Tax cost 20  110   79   108 

  182   138   156  Profit for the year   279   173   226 

    Minority interests    

  182   138   156  Majority interests   279   173   226 

        

    The equity certificates share of the result divided    

   4,88   5,49  by the number of equity certificates (in whole NOK)   9,83   6,08  

    Total Profit Statement    

  182   138   156  Annual profit   279   173   226 

    Net change in fair value of financial assets    

  -16   -6   172  available for sale 25  173   -5   -16 

    Tax effect of change in value of finan. Instruments    

    available for sale   -1   -1  

    Net change in value of financial assets    

  13   2   available for sale transferred to result 25   2   13 

    Recognised estimate deviations in pensions,

  -10   35   6   not reversed over the result   6   35   -10 

    Tax effect of recogn. estimate. dev.

  2   -10   -1   not reversed over the result   -1   -10   2 

    Total other income and costs in the period    

  -11   21   177  carried to equity   177   21   -11 

  171   159   333  Total result for the period   456   194   215
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  PARENT BANK  MNOK   GROUP 

  31.12.11   31.12.12   31.12.13  ASSETS Notes  31.12.13  31.12.12  31.12.11 

 543    581    381 Cash and claims on central banks  381    581    543   

 1 111    950    1 485 Loans to and claims on financial institutions 11,25 285    149    111   

 25 840    28 127    27 776 Net loans to customers                                                                 13,25,26 39 511    36 931    33 663   

 3    2    2 Repossessed assets  2    2    3   

 11 039    7 994    8 464 Bonds and certificates 25,27 6 445    5 836    6 670   

 337    359    523 Shares 25,27 523    359    337   

 163    405    363 Financial derivatives 25,32,34 400    405    163   

 352    450    553 Equity stakes in group companies 18   

 1    1    12 Equity stakes in associated companies 17 12    1    1   

 11    8    4 Intangible assets 19 7    12    18   

 40    31    30 Deferred tax asset 20 9    14    11   

 89    96    90 Fixed assets 19 272    279    274   

 50    52    34 Other assets 10,21 55    76    53   

 39 579    39 056    39 717 TOTAL ASSETS 13,29 47 902    44 645    41 847   

    EQUITY AND LIABILITIES    

 4 922    2 870    2 630 Liabilities to financial institutions 11,16,25 1 465    2 550    4 802   

 19 074    21 037    22 492 Deposits from and liabilities to customers 13,15,16,23,25 22 476    21 023    19 058   

 11 848    11 629    10 812 Debt established through issue of securities 16,25,30 19 893    17 419    14 170   

 87    80    61 Financial derivatives 25,32,34 66    80    87   

 76    68    64 Liabilities relating to period tax 20 111    94    84

 228    184    144 Other liabilities 12,21 171    208    254 

 300      Equity and related capital 24,25   300   

 200    200    200 Hybrid capita     24,25,31 200    200    200   

 36 735    36 068    36 403 Total liabilities 13,28,29 44 382    41 574    38 955   

  600    600 Equity certificates 35 600    600    

  28    32 Equalisation reserve  32    28    

 0    628    632 Total equity share capital  632    628    0   

 2 830    2 350    2 488 Primary capital  2 488    2 350    2 830   

 14    10    194 Other equity  394    87    56   

    Minority interests  6    6    6   

 2 844    2 988    3 314 Total equity  24 3 520    3 071    2 892   

 39 579    39 056    39 717 TOTAL EQUITY AND LIABILITIES 13,29 47 902    44 645    41 847   

    OFF-BALANCE SHEET ITEMS    

    Conditional liabilities:    

 539    515    512 Guarantees 26 512    515    539   

 6 543    3 257    2 380 Book value of assets provided as security for liabilities 33 1 445    1 445    3 065   

 0 0 0 Other conditional liabilities  0    0 0

BALANCE SHEET

Arendal, 31 December 2013/14 March 2014

 Stein Hannevik Torstein Moland Trond Bjørnenak Inger Johansen Siss Ågedal Jill Akselsen

 Chairman Deputy Chairman

 Marit Kittilsen Erling Holm Bente Pedersen Per Adolf Bentsen  Geir Bergskaug

      CEO
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 Equity Equalisation Primary   Donation Fair value Other  Minority 
Group certificates fund capital   fund reserve equity interests TOTAL

Equity as at 01/01/2012 acc. to presented accounts   2 895  14 42 6 2 957

Changes due to IAS 19   -65     -65

Adjusted equity as at 31/12/2012   2 830  14 42 6 2 892

Profit 2012  22 116   35  173

Donations   -15     -15

Converted to equity certificates 600  -600     0

Change in fair value of equity instruments        

available for sale     -4   -4

Recognised estimate dev. - pensions  7 28     35

Tax effect of recognised est. dev. - pensions  -1 -9     -10

Equity as at 31/12/2012 600 28 2 350 0 10 77 6 3 071

Profit 2013  3 140 13  123  279

Donations        0

Dividend   -6     -6

Change in fair value of equity instruments        0

available for sale     171   171

Recognised estimate dev. - pensions  1 5     6

Tax effect of recognised est. dev. - pensions   -1     -1

Equity 31/12/2013 600 32 2 488 13 181 200 6 3 520

        

Parent bank        

        

Equity as at 01/01/2012 acc. to presented accounts   2 895  14   2 909

Changes due to IAS 19   -65     -65

Adjusted equity as at 31/12/2012   2 830 0 14 0 0 2 844

Profit 2012  22 116     138

Donations   -15     -15

Converted to equity certificates 600  -600     0

Change in fair value of equity instruments        

available for sale     -4   -4

Recognised estimate dev. - pensions  7 28     35

Tax effect of recognised est. dev. - pensions  -1 -9     -10

Equity as at 31/12/2012 600 28 2 350 0 10 0 0 2 988

Profit 2013  3 140 13    156

Donations        0

Dividend   -6     -6

Change in fair value of equity instruments        

available for sale     171   171

Recognised estimate dev. - pensions  1 5     6

Recognised estimate dev. - pensions   -1     -1

Equity as at 31/12/2013 600 32 2 488 13 181 0 0 3 314 
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  PARENT BANK     GROUP 

 2011 2012 2013 MNOK  2013 2012 2011

 1 608    1 658    1 569 Interest income  1 895    1 878    1 672   

 -1 004    -1 078    -982 Interest cost  -1 114    -1 196    -1 014   

 155    173    184 Other payments received  201    205    197   

 -406    -434    -450 Operations-related payments  -499    -491    -477   

 3    2    2 Recoveries from confirmed losses  2    2    3   

 -89    -75    -66 Period tax paid  -91    -83    -97   

 -8    -20    -20 Payments relating to donations  -20    -20    -8   

 -2    -4     Paid group contribution    

    -6  Paid dividend  -6     

 257    222    231 Net cash flow from operations  368    295    276   

 -529    -2 350    245 Change in loans and repossessed assets  -2 683    -3 331    -2 660   

 -46    -24    21 Change in other assets  31    -56    -46   

 -1 722    3 101    -459 Change in securities  -601    832    -1 322   

 479    161    -535 Change in loans - other financial institutions  -136    -38    -95   

 1 706    1 970    1 468 Change in deposits from customers  1 466    1 971    1 709   

 -731    -2 035    -237 Change in funding loans from financial institutions  -1 082    -2 235    -851   

 23    -34    -30 Change in other liabilities  -22     24   

 -820    789    473 Net cash flow from current financial operations  -3 027    -2 857    -3 241   

 -12    -27    -8 Investment in fixed assets  -13    -29    -14   

 4    3     Sale of fixed assets  2    3    4   

 -108    -100    -117 Invested in group and associated companies  -17     

 -116    -124    -125 Net cash flow from investments  -28    -26    -10   

  2 916   2 930   700  Debt established through issue of securities   2 800   4 980   7 791 

 -2 123    -3 479    -1 479 Repayment of debt est. through issue of securities  -313    -2 054    -4 702   

  -300     Change in equity and related capital and hybrid capital   -300    

 793    -849    -779 Net cash flow from long-term funding activities  2 487    2 626    3 089   

 114    38    -200 Net change in liquid assets  -200    38    114   

 429    543    581 Liquid funds as at 01/01  581    543    429   

 543    581    381 Liquid funds as at 31/12  381    581    543
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1. GENERAL INFORMATION

The Sparebanken Sør Group consists of the parent bank, 
Sparebanken Sør and subsidiaries Sør Boligkreditt AS, 
ABCenter Holding AS, Bankbygg AS, AS Eiendomsvekst, Mar-
kensgate 9 AS, Prosjektutvikling AS and Rettighetskompa-
niet AS. The Group conducts banking operations in 30 loca-
tions and real estate brokerage business in 12 locations in 
Aust-Agder, Vest-Agder and Telemark.

The head office of the parent bank and the mortgage com-
pany is in Arendal, while the head office of the real estate 
brokerage business, ABCenter, is located in Kristiansand.

The accounts are presented in MNOK, unless otherwise spe-
cified.

2. ACCOUNTING PRINCIPLES

Use of IFRS
Sparebanken Sør reports its parent bank and group acco-
unts according to International Financial Reporting Stan-
dards, IFRS, and application interpretations, and also the ad-
ditional Norwegian information requirements set out in the 
Norwegian Accounting Act. The accounts have been based 
on IFRS standards and interpretations, which are mandatory 
and approved by the EU for accounts presented for 2013. 

Consolidation and group companies
The group accounts include the parent bank and subsidia-
ries, where the bank alone, or together with subsidiaries, 
has controlling interest, usually as a result of an ownership 
interest of more than 50%. Internal transactions and balan-
ces are netted out. 

When a subsidiary is acquired, the cost price of the shares in 
the parent company is netted out against equity in the sub-
sidiary at the time of acquisition. The difference between 
the cost price and net book value of assets in the subsidiary 
at the time of acquisition is added to the assets to which 
the surplus value relates within the market value of these 
assets. The part of the cost price that cannot be added to 
specific assets represents goodwill. If the value of the acqui-
red assets exceeds the cost price, the difference is carried 
to income. 

In the parent bank’s accounts, the assets are recognised at 
the cost price on initial incorporation. The shares are tested 
annually for impairment in value and if necessary, a write-
down to the recoverable amount is made.

Associated companies
Associated companies are companies in which the bank has 
significant interest. Significant interest exists when the bank 
has an equity stake of between 20% and 50%. Associated 
companies are incorporated in the group accounts accor-
ding to the equity method. This means that on initial incor-
poration, the assets are recognised at cost price and then 
adjusted for the bank’s share of the associated company’s 
result.

In the parent bank’s accounts, the assets are recognised at 
the cost price on initial incorporation. The shares are tested 
annually for any impairment in value and if necessary, a 
write-down to the recoverable amount is made.

Foreign currency
The accounts are presented in NOK, which is also the 
Group’s functional currency 

Transactions in foreign currency are converted to NOK at 
the exchange rates on the transaction date. Any foreign 
exchange losses and gains arising from such transactions 
and from conversion of money items in foreign currency on 
the balance sheet date are recognised in the profit and loss 
account.

In the accounts, the Group’s receivables and liabilities in fo-
reign currencies are converted into NOK at the middle rate 
of exchange on Oslo Stock Exchange on the balance sheet 
date. Foreign currency positions are limited through the use 
of matching transactions in the same currency.

Interest income and costs
Interest income and costs associated with assets and liabili-
ties assessed as amortised cost, are recognised in the profit 
and loss account on an ongoing basis using the effective in-
terest rate method. Effective interest rate is defined as the 
rate of interest that when applied means that the present 
value of the expected cash flow over the anticipated lifeti-
me of the financial assets or liabilities becomes equal to the 
book value of the financial asset or liability. When calcula-
ting the effective interest rate, the cash flow incorporated 
in the agreement is estimated, but without taking any future 
credit losses into consideration.

For interest-bearing instruments measured at fair value, 
the interest rate will be classified as the interest income or 
cost, where the effect of value change will be classified as 
income or costs relating to financial instruments.
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Accrued and incurred interest at year-end is presented to-
gether with the associated balance sheet item.

Commission income and fees
Generally, commission income and fees are accrued when 
the service is provide or received. Fees associated with lo-
ans will not be recognised directly in the profit and loss ac-
count, but will be included in calculation of the effective 
interest rate and will be recognised in the profit and loss 
account accordingly. Income from the real estate brokerage 
business is recognised when it has been earned. Consequen-
tly, carrying to income takes place on signing the contract 
regarding purchase and sale of property, etc. 

Loans to customers
Initially, loans are assessed at the fair value. In subsequent 
periods, loans at floating rates are assessed at the amortis-
ed cost using the effective interest method. Fees associated 
with the loans are included in the calculation of the effecti-
ve interest rate and are recognised in the profit and loss ac-
count accordingly. Amortised cost is equal to the acquisition 
cost less repayments on the principal amount, adjusted for 
the amortisation effect resulting from the effective interest 
rate methods and adjusted for impairment in value.

Fixed rate loans to customers are incorporated in the ac-
counts at fair value, any gains and losses due to a change in 
fair value are incorporated in the profit and loss account as 
a changed in value. The fair value is calculated by discoun-
ting the cash flow in the loans with the required return ba-
sed on zero coupon interest. The reason for measuring fixed 
rate loans at the fair value is to avoid accounting inconsis-
tency due to the associated derivatives being measured and 
incorporated at the fair value. 

Impairment in value of loans
It is regularly assessed whether there are objective indica-
tors of impairment in value of loans or groups of loans. Im-
pairment in value exists if there is objective proof of events 
that may cause a reduced cash flow. Impairment in value 
must refer to events after initial incorporation and it must 
be possible to make a reliable assessment. Events that indi-
cate impairment in value are:
- significant financial difficulties being experienced by the  
 borrower
- default
- that special terms and conditions have been granted due  
 to the borrower’s financial situation
- the borrower is likely to enter into debt negotiations or  
 other financial restructuring
- observable data indicate a measurable reduction in future
 cash flow from a group of loans 

The bank first assesses whether there is individual objective 
evidence of impairment in value. If this is the case, the loan 
is included in a group of loans with the same credit risk. The 
group of loans is then assessed on an aggregate basis with 
regard to the impairment in value. Loans which are written-
down individually are excluded from this.

If there is objective evidence that impairment in value has 
occurred, the amount of loss is calculated as the difference 
between the loan’s book value and the present value of fu-
ture estimated cash flows discounted by the loan’s original 
effective interest rate. The loan’s value is reduced by using 
an appropriate account and the impairment in value is in-
cluded in the profit and loss account. Write-down on groups 
of loans is dealt with according to corresponding principles.

Defaulted and bad and doubtful loans
A customer’s aggregate commitments are deemed to be 
in default when repayments or interest due have not been 
paid 90 days after the due date in question or if credit fa-
cilities have been overdrawn for more than 90 days. Loans 
which are not in default, but where the customer’s financial 
situation would suggest that the commitment is bade or do-
ubtful, are classified as bad or doubtful. 

Confirmed losses
Losses are classified as confirmed when it is highly likely 
that these are final. Losses are deemed to be confirmed in 
case of formally announced composition with creditors, or 
in case of bankruptcy, if the imposition of restraint upon 
chattels and the sale thereof have not given the required 
result, a final and enforceable judgment, or if the bank has 
waived its rights relating to all or part of the commitment 
involved. Confirmed losses against which no write-down has 
been made or where there is too much or little cover in re-
lation to the write-down made, are recognised in the profit 
and loss account.
   
Repossessed assets
In some cases, the bank repossesses assets which have 
been pledged as collateral security for loans, as part of the 
treatment of loans and guarantees in default. At the time 
of repossession, the assets are assessed at their estimated 
sale value and the commitment in question is adjusted ac-
cordingly. On subsequent presentation of the accounts, the 
value is adjustment for the impairment in value, which is 
regarded to be of a transitory nature.

Impairment in value of other financial assets
Impairment in value of other financial assets
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Financial instruments
Financial instruments consist of shares and unit trust cer-
tificates, bonds and financial derivatives. Shares, unit trust 
certificates and equity certificates are classified in the ac-
counts either at the “fair value through the profit and loss 
account” or as “available for sale”, with any change in the 
value in other income and costs in the total result. Certifica-
tes, bonds and derivatives as assets are classified in the ac-
counts at the fair value with the change in value recognised 
in the profit and loss account.

All financial liabilities established by the parent bank befo-
re 1 July 2010, with the exception of subordinated loan capi-
tal and hybrid capital, are incorporated at the fair value. In 
the case of financial liabilities at fixed interest rates, which 
have been swapped at a floating interest rate, accounting 
inconsistencies are avoided as the derivatives will be recog-
nised in the accounts at the fair value. Financial liabilities at 
a floating interest rate, established by the parent bank from 
and including 1 July 2010, have been incorporate at the 
amortised cost and liabilities established at a fixed interest 
rate after 1 January 2013 are used for hedge accounting.  

Financial liabilities at a floating interest rate established by 
the subsidiary Sør Boligkreditt AS have been incorporated 
in the accounts at the amortised cost and liabilities establis-
hed at a fixed interest rate are used for hedge accounting.

All financial instruments classified at the fair value through 
the profit and loss account are presented in the balance 
sheet at the fair value, and the change in fair value from the 
opening balance is recognised in the profit and loss account 
as the net loss / gain on financial instruments. 

The fair value of securities, such as shares, unit trust certi-
ficates and primary capital certificates, which are not listed 
on the ordinary market, have been based on the assessment 
value as at 31 December 2013.

The fair value of securities, such as shares, unit trust certi-
ficates and primary capital certificates, which are not liste 
don the ordinary market, have been based on earnings and 
/ or equity in the company in question.

The fair value of securities, such as bonds and certificates 
issued by others and which are owned by the bank, has been 
based on the assessment value as at 31 December 2013.
The fair value of securities-related debt has been based on 
the assessment value as at 31 December 2013.

The fair value of interest rate derivatives has been calcu-
lated as a present value based on the swap curve for the 
remaining life. Currency derivatives are valued at the ap-
plicable prices at year-end.
Financial assets or obligations are removed from the ba-
lance sheet when the right to receive cash flows from the 
investment or liability to pay the cash flow ends or has been 
discontinued through sale.

All financial instruments will be managed, assessed and re-
ported in accordance with the applicable strategy for the 
financial instrument in question.
In practice, the bank uses derivatives mainly for hedging 
purposes.
 
Subordinated loans
Subordinated loans have priority after all other liabilities, 
Subordinated loans are classified as liabilities in the balan-
ce sheet and are recognised in the accounts at the amorti-
sed cost.

Hybrid capital
Hybrid capital is part of the bank’s core capital under given 
assumptions. Formally speaking, this is a loan that ranks af-
ter other loans, including subordinated loans but has prio-
rity over the bank’s equity. Hybrid capital is classified as a 
liability in the balance sheet and is recognised in the acco-
unt at the amortised cost.

Deposits
Deposits are recognised in the accounts at the amortised 
cost. 

Intangible assets
Intangible assets consist of goodwill, rights and computer 
software.

Goodwill is defined as the difference between the purchase 
price and the identified value of the net assets in the ac-
quired business. Goodwill is not depreciated, but is assessed 
annually with regard to write-down.

Rights are presented in the balance sheet at cost price less 
depreciation. The depreciation period reflects the life of the 
right.

Computer software is recognised in the accounts at cost 
price less depreciation. The bank uses linear depreciation, 
which reflects the economic lifetime.
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Tangible assets 
Tangible assets, include buildings, land and fixtures and fit-
tings. Buildings and fixtures and fittings are recognised in 
the balance sheet at the cost price less depreciation and 
write-downs. The bank uses linear depreciation, which re-
flects the asset’s economic lifetime.

Investment property
The bank has an investment property and this is recognised 
in the accounts at cost price less accumulated depreciation.

Pensions  
The bank has various pension schemes, which are defined 
benefit schemes. A defined benefit scheme is a pension 
scheme which entitles members to a defined future benefit 
on reaching retirement age. The pension is determined by 
factors, such as age, number of years in employment and 
salary. The most comprehensive pension schemes are gua-
ranteed through payments to an insurance company. 

The liabilities included in the balance sheet relating to a 
defined benefit scheme are the present value of the defi-
ned liability less the fair value of the pension assets. The 
liability is calculated annually by an independent actuary. 
The present value of future defined benefits is calculated by 
discounting estimated future payments using interest rates 
based on the OMF interest rate.

Financial parameters used in calculation of the pension lia-
bility have been updated on the balance sheet date 

Liabilities associated with the new AFP early retirement 
scheme have not been incorporated in the balance sheet, as 
the liability cannot be calculated. Until further notice, this 
has been treated as a defined contribution scheme.  

Uncertain liabilities
The bank issues financial guarantees as part of its ordinary 
operations. Loss assessment is made as part of the assess-
ment of losses on loans and is reported together with these. 

Provisions are made for other uncertain liabilities if it is 
more than likely that the liability will materialise and the 
financial consequences may be calculated reliably. Provi-
sions for restructuring costs are made when the group has 
an agreement-related or legal liability.

Taxes
Tax recognised in the profit and loss account consists of tax 
payable and change in deferred tax. 

In case of deferred tax, liabilities and assets are calculated 
on temporary differences, which is the difference between 
the book value and tax-related value of assets and liabili-
ties. Deferred tax is 27% (previously 28%) of the temporary 
differences at the end of the financial year. Tax increasing 
and reducing temporary differences, which reverse or may 
be reversed in the same period, are netted out and recog-
nised in the accounts on a net basis. Deferred tax asset is 
presented in the balance sheet based on expectations of 
taxable income from future earnings. 
Presentation of dividend
Proposed distribution of dividend is presented as equity 
until a final decision regarding distribution has been made. 
The payment is then presented as allocated dividend until 
payment has been made.

Segment reporting
A segment is a customer category of similar products, servi-
ces, return and risk.
The Group’s operations are divided into primary segments 
of the retail banking market, corporate market and the real 
estate brokerage. 

Cash flow statement
The cash flow statement has been prepared on the basis of 
gross cash flows from operational, investment and finan-
cing activities.  Cash flows from operational activities are 
defined as current interest relating to lending and deposit 
operations involving customers, net payments received / 
made relating to lending and deposit operations, fees and 
commission from other operations and also payments made 
in connection with costs relating to ordinary operations. In-
vestment activities are defined as investments in subsidia-
ries and associated companies and also investments in fixed 
assets and real estate. Cash flow from establishment and re-
payment of subordinated loans and other securities-related 
debt are defined as financing activities.

Use of estimates and assessments when using 
accounting principles
Critical estimates and assessments are primarily related to the 
write-down of individual loans or groups of loans, pension lia-
bilities, depreciation and amortisation and also establishment 
of the fair value of financial instruments. The accounting esti-
mates may deviate from the results achieved, but are based on 
the best estimate at the time of presenting the accounts.   

The bank and mortgage company’s corporate commitments 
are divided into risk classes according to the customer’s finan-
cial strength and earnings. The commitments in the weakest 
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risk classes are reviewed 3-4 times a year to assess the need 
for write-down. All larger commitments will be reviewed as 
regards whether it is necessary to make a write-down. Write-
down criteria have been discussed under impairment in value 
of loans. The bank’s risk classification systems are discussed 
in note 26. Assessment of individual and group write-downs 
will always be based on a great degree of discretionary assess-
ment. You can never know for certain what relevant historical 
data has been used as a basis for a decision. Realisation of col-
lateral assets relating to special objects or sectors will always 
involve a lot of uncertainty.

The depreciation must reflect the asset’s economic lifetime, 
but there will always be a risk that in practice the economic 
lifetime deviates from the depreciation period.

The pension liabilities have been based on estimates associa-
ted with return on pension assets, future interest rates, wage 
and pension development, public pension adjustments, staff 
turnover, the share of disabled pensions, expected use of early 
retirement pension and lifetime. Changes in the estimates may 
have a significant impact on the pension liabilities and costs. 

The fair value of financial instruments that are traded in an 
active market will usually be determined with a reasonably 
degree of certainty. Where this is not the case, different assess-
ment models are applied and these models are mentioned in 
more detail under the description of financial instruments. In 
our view, the models give a good estimate of the fair value, 
even if there is some uncertainty regarding this. Refer other-
wise to note 25.

Events after the balance sheet date
The accounts are deemed to be approved for publication 
when the board of directors has adopted the accounts. The 
Board of Trustees and the regulatory authorities will then 
be able to refuse to approve the accounts, but not change 
them.

Events occurring up to the time the accounts are published, 
and which were known on the balance sheet, have been ta-
ken into consideration in the accounts. Events concerning 
matters that were not known on the balance sheet date will 
be made known if these are of significant importance.

The accounts have been presented on the assumption of a 
going concern. In the view of the board of directors, this as-
sumption was valid at the time the accounts were approved 
for publication.  

Sparebanken Sør and Sparebanken Pluss merged with ef-
fect from and including 1 January 2014 Sparebanken Pluss 
is the acquiring bank and at the same time changed its 
name to Sparebanken Sør.     

Changes in accounting principles and information

New and amended standards that have been adopted
From 1 January 2013, the following standards have been 
used that have a greater impact on the accounts:

Amendments to IAS 1 Presentation of financial statements re-
garding comprehensive income. The amendment means that 
items of comprehensive will be grouped according to whether 
they can subsequently be reclassified as traditional income. 

IAS 19 Payments to employees was amended in June 2011. The 
amendments mean that all estimate deviations are recognised 
in the comprehensive income as these arise (no corridor), past-
service costs will be recognised in profit and loss in the period 
when a plan is amended, and a change from interest cost on 
the defined benefit obligation and the anticipated return on 
plan assets at a net interest amount where the discount inter-
est is used as a net pension obligation (asset). For information 
on quantitative matters, refer to note 21, pension costs. 

Amendment of IFRS 7 Financial instruments – information re-
garding net presentation of assets and liabilities. The amend-
ment requires new note information to enable a comparison 
between IFRS reporting enterprises and enterprises that report 
in accordance with US GAAP. 

IFRS 13 Fair value measurement aims to improve consis-
tency and reduce complexity by providing a clear definition 
of fair value, and is a common source of fair value measu-
rement requirements and note information for use with all 
standards where fair value is used. The standard does not 
increase the use of fair value, but provides guidance on how 
it is to be determined when fair value is required or allowed 
by other standards. 

Amendments to IAS 36 Impairment of assets concerns infor-
mation on the recoverable amount for non-financial assets. 
The amendment removed some note information require-
ments associated with recoverable amount for cash-gene-
rating units, which (by accident) were introduced along with 
IFRS 13. The amendment is not mandatory until 1 January 
2014, but the Group has chosen to adopt the amendment 
early as at 1 January 2013.
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New standards and interpretations not yet adopted
A number of new standards, amendments to standards and 
interpretations are effective for annual accounts beginning 
on or after 1 January 2013, which have not been used in 
these Group accounts.

IFRS 10, Consolidated financial statements, has been ba-
sed on today’s principles of using the concept of control as 
the decisive criterion for determining whether to include a 
company in the group accounts. The standard provides ad-
ditional guidance on assessment of whether control is pre-
sent in the cases where this is difficult.

IFRS 11, Joint control arrangements, focuses on the rights 
and obligations of the parties to the arrangement more 
than the legal structure. The joint arrangements are divi-
ded into two different types of arrangement: Joint Venture 
and Joint Operation. Joint operations arise when the parties 
have rights to the assets and obligations for the liabilities. 
A party to a joint operation accounts for its share of assets, 
liabilities, income and costs. A joint venture arises when the 
parties have rights to net assets in the arrangement. Such 
arrangements are to be accounted for using the equity me-
thod. The so-called gross method or proportional consoli-
dation is no longer allowed.

IFRS 12, Disclosure of interests in other entities, contains 
information about interests in other entities including joint 
arrangements, associated companies, structured units and 
other companies that are not consolidated.

IFRS 9, Financial instruments, deals with classification, mea-
surement and incorporation of financial assets and obliga-
tions and also hedge accounting. IFRS 9 was published in 
November 2009, October 2010 and November 2013. It re-
places the parts of IAS 39 that deal with similar problems. 
According to IFRS 9, financial assets are divided into two 
classifications: those measured at fair value and those mea-
sured at amortised cost. Classification is made at the time 
the financial asset is initially recognised in the accounts. 
The classification depends on the entity’s business model 
for management of its financial instruments and the cash 
flow characteristic of each instrument. For financial obliga-
tions, the standard mainly continues the requirement in IAS 
39. The greatest amendment is that where the fair value op-
tion has been used for a financial asset, changes in the fair 
value due to changes in the entity’s own credit risk are to be 
incorporated in the comprehensive income and not in the 
traditional income, unless this results in a situation where 
matching is not achieved (accounting mismatch). IFRS 9 in-
volves a number of changes and simplifications, which will 

enhance the possibility to use hedge accounting. The Group 
has still not fully assessed the effect of IFRS 9. The Group 
will also assess the impact of the remaining parts of IFRS 
9 when these have been completed. The effective date of 
IFRS 9 has not yet been decided, but it will not be earlier 
than 1 January 2017. 
IFRIC 21, Special taxes regulate recognition of obligations 
to pay special taxes. The interpretation does not apply to 
tax on income. The interpretation emphasises the event 
that gives rise to an accounting obligation. The Group is not 
obliged to pay significant special taxes, so the impact on the 
accounts would be immaterial.

There are no other standards or interpretations, which have 
not come into effect that are expected to have a significant 
impact on the Group’s accounts.

3. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT

The risk management ensures that the Group’s risk exposu-
re at any time is known and is instrumental in the Group 
achieving is strategic objectives, and also that laws, regula-
tions and regulatory requirements are complied with.
A framework has been established for the Group’s risk ap-
petite and specific management objective with targets / li-
mits and risk tolerance for each type of risk. Systems have 
been established for calculation and management of risk. 
The Group will have a well-diversified portfolio on both si-
des of the balance sheet and a risk that is adjusted to the 
Group’s capital adequacy and profitability. 

The Group’s risk exposure is followed-up through periodic 
reporting to the group management and board of directors. 
The overall risk management and reporting is carried out by 
Risk Management, who report directly to the CEO.

Credit risk
Credit risk is defined as the risk of losses due to customers 
or counterparties failing to meet their obligations.

Credit risk is managed through the Group’s strategy and 
policy documents, credit procedures and processes and 
authority relating to granting credit. These set overall 
guidelines for the bank’s credit policy. 

The board of directors agrees on the credit strategy at least 
once a year and this includes credit policy guidelines, and 
also management targets for risk profile and concentrations 
in the Group. 
Management objectives have been established for portfolio 
and concentration risk and also limits for key and individual 
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customers. The risk management objectives are monitored 
and reported periodically to the board of directors. The 
Group has developed and actively uses different risk 
classification and pricing models in credit processes and in 
portfolio management of the retail banking and corporate 
market.

The board of directors is responsible for the Group’s 
granting of credit and has delegated powers of attorney to 
the CEO, who within his power of attorney has delegated 
this to others within the organisation. Credit handling 
procedures, credit policy and the risk classification models 
set requirements for the credit processes used and tha 
analyses to be conducted in connection with granting 
credit and follow-up of the retail banking and corporate 
market commitments. The powers of attorney are related to 
expertise, market, size of commitment and risk. The Group’s 
Credit Committee is used when handling large and / or 
complex commitments.

Market risk
Market risk is the risk of losses due to unfavourable chan-
ges in market prices of interest, exchange rates and in the 
securities market. 

The market risk management strategy ensures that the bu-
siness is conducted in accordance with the Group’s overall 
strategy plan, and that the risk is reflected in the return. The 
board of directors has established management objectives 
for investments in shares, bonds and positions in the inter-
est rate and foreign exchange market. Compliance with the 
management objectives is monitored by Risk Management 
and reported monthly to the executive management and 
the board of directors.  

At year-end, the Group’s total share investments were 
MNOK 523 (MNOK 359), of which the trading portfolio is 
MNOK 31 (MNOK 38). One of the largest items is Nets Hol-
ding, Eksportfinans and also ownership interests in the 
partly-owned product companies Frende Forsikring, Norne 
Securities and Brage Finans.

Most of the Group’s interest risk is associated with the bank’s 
portfolio of interest-bearing securities, fixed rate loans and 
deposits. The board of directors has set a limit of MNOK 25 
for the aggregate interest risk on and off the bank’s balance 
sheet. On average for the year, use of the allowed interest 
risk limit has been around 18% and at year-end, the Group’s 
net interest position is around MNOK 3 (MNOK 5). 

The Group is affected by fluctuations in the foreign exchan-
ge market. The most important balance sheet items are len-
ding in foreign currencies to customers and hybrid capital 
in foreign currency. Foreign currency items are mainly hed-
ged through forward exchange contracts, currency swaps or 
funding loans in the same currency. The total limit for cur-
rency risk is MNOK 10 and at year-end, around 67% (20%) 
was used.

Funding risk
Funding risk is the risk that the Group is unable to meet 
its obligations, or does not have the ability to fund normal 
growth in assets.

Funding risk is managed through the Group’s liquidity 
strategy and policy, procedures, guidelines and loan 
granting authorities. Important operational management 
parameters are the liquidity indicator for long-term 
funding (NSFR, Net Stable Funding Ratio) and the liquidity 
buffer (LCR, Liquidity Coverage Ratio). NSFR is a measure 
of the extent to which the banks have established long-
term funding of their lending operations. LCR measures 
to what extent the banks have a buffer of liquid assets to 
survive a cash outflow stress period of at least 30 days. The 
funding risk is also limited by good deposit-to-loan ratio, 
and also spreading of borrowing from the capital market 
among different terms, markets, borrowing sources and 
instruments. 

Deposits from customers are the most important and 
stable source of funding. The board of directors focuses on 
the ratio between the deposits from customers and loans 
being satisfactory and adjusted to the Group’s total funding 
situation. Sør Boligkreditt has become an important funding 
instrument, and covers an important part of the Group’s 
funding needs through issue of covered bonds. This provides 
a good, steady supply of long-term funding on favourable 
terms. 

The Group has significant liquid reserves, such as liquid 
securities, drawing rights in Norges Bank and non-leveraged 
mortgage portfolio in Sør Boligkreditt. The bank also 
has mortgages that are ready for transfer to its mortgage 
company at short notice. The drawing rights in Norges Bank 
total BNOK 1.4, none of which had been used at year-end. 
Liquid, unpledged securities consisting of government 
securities, other zero-weighted securities and municipal 
bonds amount to BNOK 3.8. (BNOK 3.6)

During the year, the liquidity indicator for long-term funding 
has risen from 110.1 to 110.5, while in the latest known 
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figures for comparable banks was 103.5.In its discussion 
document on criteria for systematically important banks, 
the Financial Supervisory Authority of Norway proposes 
that the liquidity indicator requirement for such banks is set 
at 110, effective from 1 July 2015. The Financial Supervisory 
Authority of Norway proposes that the merged Sparebanken 
Sør is defined as a systematically important bank. 

In addition to an increase in the percentage of long-term 
funding, the Group has also prioritised maintaining a large 
liquid reserve. The available liquid reserve indicates that 
under normal operations, the Group can survive 18 months 
without a supply of new capital from the market. 

The bank’s short-term funding risk is managed, among other 
things, by using the LCR indicator. Fully implemented, the 
requirement is that the bank must have a liquid reserve that 
is sufficient in a stressed cash outflow situation to survive 
at least 30 days. At the end of 2013, the LCR indicator for 
Sparebanken Sør is 98.4%. The Basel Committee and the 
EU have planned a gradual phasing in from 1 January 2015, 
starting at 60%, while the Financial Supervisory Authority of 
Norway wants to impose 100% on systematically important 
banks as early as from 1 July 2015

Operational risk
Operational risk is defined as the risk of losses due to 
insufficient or failing internal processes, procedures or 
systems, human errors, crime or external events. Operational 
risk management is based on “Operational Risk Strategy”. 
Operational risk is managed through skills training, good 
systems and procedures and good internal control and 
quality assurance. Management objectives have been 
established for operational risk. 

Annual risk assessments are carried out for all relevant risk 
areas in the Group. These form the basis for preparation of 
control plans, follow-up and handling of operational risk.

Strategic management objectives and risk development 
are followed-up through event databases and also interim 
reports to the group management and the board of directors.

No significant weaknesses that are important for the Group’s 
risk and capital adequacy have been found.

Compliance
The Group wants to have good processes to ensure 
compliance with applicable laws and regulations. There is 
continuous work on assessing the best adaptation to new 
legislation in order to be able to maintain compliance and 
the efficiency in the organisation. New legislation that has 
an impact on the Group’s operations is implemented in the 
bank’s procedures and guidelines.
Risk Management and Compliance attends to compliance 
and is organised independently of the business units. This 
department has overall responsibility for frameworks, 
follow-up and reporting within this area.

Ownership risk
Ownership risk is the risk that the Group will incur negative 
results from ownership interests in owned companies and / 
or must supply new capital in these companies. 

The management and boards of directors of the subsidiaries 
are taken care of in accordance with the provisions of the 
Limited Liability Companies Act. In several of the companies, 
management and / or employees from the Group are used 
on the board of directors or in other functions. 

Ownership risk is primarily associated with the Group’s 
real estate brokerage company ABCenter AS, and also 
the limited liability company that owns a few commercial 
properties where Sparebanken Sør is located.

Capital management
Capital management will ensure that the Group has good 
capital adequacy that meets the regulatory requirements 
and which ensures good financial stability and satisfactory 
return in relation to risk profile.

The Group must have a capital adequacy that ensures there 
is a good foundation for taking care of market opportunities 
and ambitions and provides good access to long and short-
term funding. Capital adequacy must be robust and have 
buffers to withstand a serious, but realistic economic 
downturn. 

The Group’s capital adequacy is monitored through periodic 
reporting to the group management and board of directors.
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4. Net interest and commission income

  Parent bank     Group 

 2011 2012 2013   2013 2012 2011

 69 46 39 Interest, etc. on claims on financial institutions  10 8 8

 1 226 1 275 1 303 Interest, etc. on loans to customers  1 728 1 647 1 487

 317 300 217 Interest. etc. on certificates and bonds  169 186 179

 1 612 1 621 1 559 Total interest income  1 907 1 841 1 674

        

 164 116 73 Interest, etc. on liabilities to financial institutions  44 100 153

 422 493 510 Interest, etc. on deposits from customers  509 490 422

 418 416 338 Interest, etc. on issued securities  515 532 446

 23 15 11 Interest, etc. on subordinated loan and hybrid capital  11 15 23

   18 Levy to the Norwegian Banks’ Guarantee Fund  18  

 1 027 1 040 950 Total interest costs  1 097 1 137 1 044

 585 581 609 Net interest and credit commission income  810 704 630

5. Commission income and income from banking services

  Parent bank     Group 

 2011 2012 2013   2013 2012 2011

 13 11 11 Guarantee commission  11 11 13

 8 7 8 Securities trading and management  8 7 8

 5 3 3 Interbank fees  3 3 5

 74 91 99 Payment transmission service  99 91 74

 13 18 26 Insurance services  26 18 13

    Real estate brokerage and management  45 62 60

 29 40 43 Miscellaneous  9 10 8

 142 170 190 Total commission income and income from banking services  201 202 181

6. Commission fees and costs relating to banking services

  Parent bank     Group 

 2011 2012 2013   2013 2012 2011

 4 2 2 Interbank fees  2 2 4

 20 22 24 Payment transmission services  24 22 20

 4 3 3 Other commission fees  3 3 4

 28 27 29 Total commission fees and costs relating to banking services  29 27 28
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7. Income from financial instruments

  Parent Bank     Group 

 2011 2012 2013   2013 2012 2011

 -15  12 Gains/losses and value change, trading port., equity instruments  12  -15

 -31 96 -3 Gains/losses and value change certificates and bonds  5 45 3

        

 10 1 -8 Value change, loans and deposits at fair value  -8 1 10

 -3 -15 6 Value change related derivatives  6 -15 -3

        

 15 -171 31 Value change issued securities at fixed interest rate  21 -171 15

 33 55 -56 Value change related derivatives  -46 55 33

        

 17 -9 12 Value change issued securities at floating interest rate  12 -9 17

        

 1 8 -1 Gains/losses and value change other financial instruments   -1 8 1

        

    Total income from financial instruments at fair value with 

 27 -35 -7 value change through profit and loss account  1 -86 61

        

 -2 -2 -1 Write-down of subsidiaries    

    Write-down and losses/gains on investments assessed as 

 -14 -2  available for sale    -2 -14

   -6 Write-down and profit share associated companies  -6  

    Total write-down and losses/gains on subsidiaries, investments assessed

 -16 -4 -7 as available for sale and associated companies  -6 -2 -14

        

 14 6 17 Dividend from equity instruments  17 6 14

 14 15  Foreign exchange gains   15 14

 28 21 17 Total income from other financial instruments  17 21 28

 39 -18 3 Total income from financial instruments  12 -67 75

8. Other operating costs

  Parent Bank     Group 

 2011 2012 2013   2013 2012 2011

 23 20 18 Marketing  21 22 24

 55 62 64 IT costs  67 65 58

 22 26 26 Operating costs related to real estate  22 23 23

 11 17 19 External fees  20 18 14

 59 56 59 Other operating costs  66 72 73

 170 181 186 Total other operating costs  196 200 192
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9. Rental income and costs   

The Group rents premises in certain locations. In 2013, the annual rental was MNOK 4.0. Own premises are rented out if 
these are not used for own operations. In 2013, the annual rental income was MNOK 9.1.  

10. Other assets

  Parent Bank     Group 

 2011 2012 2013   2013 2012 2011

 31 27 28 Accrued not received income and prepaid costs  28 28 20

 19 25 6 Other assets  27 48 33

 50 52 34 Total other assets  55 76 53

11. Loans and liabilities to financial institutions

  Parent Bank     Group 

 2011 2012 2013   2013 2012 2011

    Loans to and claims on financial institutions    

 1 054 822 1 249 No agreed maturity or notice of withdrawal  49 21 54

 57 128 235 With agreed maturity or notice of withdrawal  236 128 57

   1 Accrued interest    

 1 111 950 1 485 Total loans to and claims on financial institutions  285 149 111

    Liabilities to financial institutions    

 32 42 29 No agreed maturity or notice of withdrawal  29 42 32

 4 865 2 820 2 597 With agred maturity or notice of withdrawal  1 432 2 500 4 745

 25 8 4 Incurred interest  4 8 25

 4 922 2 870 2 630 Total liabilities to financial institutions  1 465 2 550 4 802

12. Other liabilities

  Parent Bank     Group 

 2011 2012 2013   2013 2012 2011

 74 46 26 Pension liabilities  26 46 74

 5 6 8 Trade creditors  19 12 11

 9 11 11 Tax deducted  14 11 9

 33 20 14 Appropriation accounts  14 20 34

 59 56 33 Other liabilities  38 64 70

 21 22 23 Accrued holiday pay  27 26 24

 27 23 29 Other incurred costs  33 29 32

 228 184 144 Total other liabilities  171 208 254
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13. Segment reporting

Reporting by segment   Group 2013   
     Unalloc. 
 Retail Corp. Capital  Real est.  And 
Profit and loss account banking Market market brokerage eliminations Total

Net int. and cred. comm. income 492 264 -30  84 810

Net other operating income 86 28 12 45 24 195

Operating costs 230 66 11 55 156 518

Op. res. before segment losses 348 226 -29 -10 -48 487

Losses on loans and guarantees 12 86    98

Profit before tax per segment 336 140 -29 -10 -48 389

Balance sheet       

Net loans to customers 28 485 11 026    39 511

Other assets   8 495 22 -126 8 391

Total assets per segment 28 485 11 026 8 495 22 -126 47 902

      

Deposits from/liabs. to customers 14 000 6 771 1 723  -18 22 476

Open accounts/other liabilities 14 485 4 255 6 772 22 -3 628 21 906

Total liabilities by segment 28 485 11 026 8 495 22 -3 646 44 382

Equity     3 520 3 520

Total liabs. and equity by segment 28 485 11 026 8 495 22 -126 47 902

Reporting by segment   Group 2012   
     Unalloc. 
 Retail  Corp.  Capital Real est.  and 
Profit and loss account banking Market market brokerage eliminations Total

Net int. and cred. comm. income 419 257 -40  68 704

Net other operating income 83 28 -19 64 -36 120

Operating costs 244 69 12 63 123 511

Op. result before losses by segment 258 216 -71 1 -91 313

Losses on loans and guarantees 5 56    61

Result before tax by segment 253 160 -71 1 -91 252

Balance sheet      

Net loans to customers 25 867 11 064    36 931

Other assets   8 950 28 -1 264 7 714

Total assets by segment 25 867 11 064 8 950 28 -1 264 44 645

      

Deposits from and liabs. to customers 12 588 7 020 1 430  -15 21 023

Open accounts/other liabilities 13 279 4 044 7 520 28 -4 320 20 551

Total liabilities by segment 25 867 11 064 8 950 28 -4 335 41 574

Equity     3 071 3 071

Total equity and liabs. by segment 25 867 11 064 8 950 28 -1 264 44 645
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13. Segment reporting continues

Reporting by segment   Parent Bank 2013  
    Unalloc. 
 Retail  Corp. Capital  and 

Profit and loss account banking Market market eliminations Total  

   

Net int. and cred. comm. income 308 264 -30 67 609

Net other operating income 120 28 12 10 170

Operating costs 245 66 11 142 464

Op. result before losses by segment 183 226 -29 -65 315

Losses on loans and guarantees 10 86   96

Profit before tax by segment 173 140 -29 -65 219

     

Balance sheet     

Net loans to customers 16 596 11 180   27 776

Other assets   8 495 3 446 11 941

Total assets by segment 16 596 11 180 8 495 3 446 39 717

     

Deposits from and liabs. to customers 13 998 6 770 1 724  22 492

Open accounts/other liabilities 2 598 4 410 6 771 132 13 911

Total liabs. by segment 16 596 11 180 8 495 132 36 403

Equity    3 314 3 314

Total liabs. and equity by segment 16 596 11 180 8 495 3 446 39 717

Reporting by segment   Parent Bank 2012  
    Unalloc.
 Retail Corp. Capital and 
Profit and loss account banking Market market eliminations Total

     

Net int, and cred. comm. income 297 257 -40 67 581

Net other operating income 113 28 -19 9 131

Operating costs 243 69 12 123 447

Op. result before losses bby segment 167 216 -71 -47 265

Losses on loans and guarantees 5 56   61

Result before tax by segment 162 160 -71 -47 204

     

Balance sheet     

Net loans to customers 16 909 11 218   28 127

Other assets   8 950 1 979 10 929

Total assets by segment 16 909 11 218 8 950 1 979 39 056

     

Deposits from and liabs. to customers 12 588 7 019 1 430 0 21 037

Open accounts/other liabs. 4 321 4 199 7 520 -1 009 15 031

Total liabs. by segment 16 909 11 218 8 950 -1 009 36 068

Equity    2 988 2 988

Total equity and liabs. by segment 16 909 11 218 8 950 1 979 39 056
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14. Losses and write-downs on loans

  Parent Bank     Group 

 2011 2012 2013   2013 2012 2011

    Individual write-downs    

 155 195 190 Individual write downs at 01/01  190 195 155

    -Period’s confirmed losses against which individual write-

 21 39 31 downs were previously made  31 39 21

 10 3 8 +Increased individual write-downs in the period  8 3 10

 62 72 145 +New individual write-downs in the period  145 72 62

 11 41 40 -Reversal of individual write-downs in the period  40 41 11

 195 190 272 =Individual write-downs as at 31/12.  272 190 195

    Write-downs on groups of loans    

 120 120 124 Collective write-downs as at 01/01  128 124 124

 0 4 -28 +Period’s change in collective write-downs  -26 4 0

 120 124 96 =Collective write-downs as at 31/12  102 128 124

    Loss costs    

 40 -5 82 Period’s changes in individual write-downs  82 -5 40

 0 4 -28 +Period’s change in collective write-downs  -26 4 0

    +Period’s confirmed loses against which individual write-

 21 39 31 downs were previously made  31 39 21

    +Period’s confirmed losses against which no individual write- 

 6 20 10 down was previously made  10 20 6

 7 5 3 +Carried to income as interest income    3 5 7

 3 2 2 -Period’s recoveries from previous confirmed losses  2 2 3

 71 61 96 =Period’s loss costs  98 61 71

Losses on loans and guarantees, etc. according to customer groups

 Parent Bank     Group  

 2011 2012 2013   2013 2012 2011

 57 51 112 Corporate customers  112 51 57

 5 6 10 Retail banking customers  10 6 5

 9 0 2 Other  2 0 9

 71 57 124 Total losses on loans  124 57 71

 0 4 -28 Change in collective write-downs  -26 4 0

 71 61 96 Total losses on loans and guarantees, etc.  98 61 71
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15. Deposits from customers according to key industries and sectors        
 
 Parent Bank     Group  

 2011 2012 2013   2013 2012 2011

 10 846 11 834 12 979 Retail banking customers  12 979 11 834 10 846

 1 557 1 474 1 965 Public sector  1 965 1 474 1 557

 181 191 221 Primary industries  221 191 181

 861 733 567 Industry  567 733 861

 686 715 701 Building and construction  701 715 686

 537 614 683 Transport and communication  683 614 537

 522 517 511 Wholesale and retail trade   511 517 522

 89 98 97 Hotel and restaurant  97 98 89

 1 057 1 389 1 063 Real estate  1 046 1 375 1 042

 1 151 897 939 Financial/ business services  939 896 1 150

 1 557 2 552 2 755 Sundry/other industries  2 756 2 552 1 557

 19 044 21 014 22 481 Total deposits  22 465 20 999 19 028

 30 23 11 Incurred interest  11 24 30

 19 074 21 037 22 492 Total deposits from and liabilities to customers  22 476 21 023 19 058

16. Average interest and special terms for some liability items

  Parent Bank     Group 

 2011 2012 2013   2013 2012 2011

    Liabilities to financial institutions    

 2.20 % 1.80 % 2.90 % Loans and deposits from financ. instit. – no agreed maturity  2.90 % 1.80 % 2.20 %

 3.30 % 2.00 % 2.10 % Loans and deposits from financ. instit. – agreed maturity  2.10 % 2.00 % 3.20 %

    Deposits from customers    

 2.60 % 2.40 % 2.40 % Deposits from customers – no agreed maturity  2.40 % 2.40 % 2.60 %

 3.20 % 3.20 % 3.30 % Deposits from customers - agreed maturity  3.30 % 3.20 % 3.20 %

    Debt established through issue of securities    

 3.30 % 2.20 % i.a Certificate-related debt  i.a 2.20 % 3.30 %

 4.60 % 4.20 % 3.90 % Bond debt  2.60 % 3.60 % 4.40 %

The average rate of interest is calculated as a weighted average of the actual interest rate terms and conditions as at 31 
December 2013, defined as annual interest paid in arrears. No liability items have special terms and conditions.

The total liabilities to financial institutions are mainly in NOK. Of deposits from customers, MNOK 62 are in USD and MNOK 
368 are in EUR. Total deposits from customers in foreign currencies are MNOK 434. Liabilities related to issue of securities 
are all in NOK.
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17. Associated companies

Amounts in NOK 1 000       Utg. 

  Eq. Stake   OB Addition    Write-down        Result          CB    

Søndeled Bygg A/S   29% 1 241   -116 1 125

Arendal Brygge AS  35%  16 500 6 000  10 500

Total equity stakes in associated companies       11 625

The shares in Arendal Brygge AS were acquired at the end of 2013

18. Group companies  

Amounts in NOK    Equity stake  Book value 

    as at 31.12.13 2013 2012 2011

       

ABCenter Holding AS    100 % 22 314 17 994 17 994

A/S Eiendomsvekst    100 % 2 935 2 935 2 935

Bankbygg A/S    51 % 191 191 191

Markensgate 9 AS    80 % 19 208 19 208 19 208

Prosjektutvikling AS    100 % 6 083 6 083 5 363

Rettighetskompaniet AS    100 % 2 660 3 380 6 009

Sør Boligkreditt AS    100 % 500 000 400 000 300 000

Total equity stakes in group companies     553 391 449 791 351 700

19. Tangible and intangible assets

Group Machinery/fixtures/  Intangible 

 transport Buildings assets 

  2013 2012 2013 2012 2013 2012

       

Acquisition cost as at 01/01  147 138 403 400 142 142

Additions for the year  7 20 5 3 1 5

Disposals for the year  7 11 1   5

Acquisition cost 31/12  147 147 407 403 143 142

Accumulated depreciation and write-downs  116 113 166 158 136 130

Book value 31/12  31 34 241 245 7 12

       

Ordinary depreciation  9 10 8 8 6 9

Gains on sales  0 0 1 0 0 0
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19. Tangible and intangible assets continues

Parent Bank

 Machinery/fixtures  Intangible 

 transport Buildings assets 

  2013 2012 2013 2012 2013 2012

       

Acquisition cost as at 01/01  134 125 197 196 41 41

Additions for the year  7 20 1 1 1 5

Disposals for the year  6 11 0 0 0 5

Acquisition cost as at 31/12  135 134 198 197 42 41

Accumulated depreciation and write-downs  105 102 138 133 38 33

Book value as at 31/12  30 32 60 64 4 8

       

Ordinary depreciation  8 9 5 5 5 7

Gains on sales  0 0 0 0 0 0

Estimated economic lifetime harmonises with the depreciation period for the various groups of assets.
The assets are depreciated on a straight-line basis.
The Group’s buildings are mainly located in the bank’s own region and are used by the bank.

The depreciation rate for buildings is in the range of 2-5%
The depreciation rate for machinery, fixture & fittings, transport and intangible assets is in the range of 10-33%.

The bank has an investment property that has a book value of MNOK 3.7, which represents the cost price less accumulated 
investments. The estimated market value in accordance with the valuation from an independent third party is MNOK 30.
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20. Accounting treatment of tax

  Parent Bank    Group 

 2011 2012 2013 Deferred tax and deferred tax assets: 2013 2012 2011

 -11 -11 -11 Negative tax-related reserves in fixed assets -7 -8 -11

    Premium relating to buildings in group accounts 22 22 22

 -6 16 14 Premium/discount relating to securities 12 10 2

 6 7 4 Fixed rate loans 4 7 6

 38 54 40 Financial derivatives - assets 43 54 38

 -21 -13 -7 Pension  liabilities -7 -13 -21

 -17 -6 -5 Financial derivatives - liabilities -5 -6 -17

 -28 -78 -65 Certificates and hybrid capital -69 -78 -28

 -1   Other accounting provisions -2 -2 -2

 -40 -31 -30 Total recognised deferred tax and deferred tax assets -9 -14 -11

 2 -8 -12 Of which deferred tax recognised over total profit -14 -8 2

 -38 -39 -42 Deferred tax over profit for the year -23 -22 -9

    Breakdown of tax recognised in the profit and loss account:   

 68 58 58 Tax payable on profit for the year (period tax) 105 84 76

 9 10 8 Wealth tax 8 10 9

 13 -2 -2 Recognised deferred tax -1 -13 23

   -1 Too much /little allocated in previous years -2 -2 

 90 66 63 Tax recognised in the profit and loss account 110 79 108

    Reconciliation of tax payable on profit for the year (period tax):   

 76 57 61 28% of profit before tax 109 71 93

 5 -1 -5 Permanent differences -5  6

 -13 2 2 Deferred tax recognised in the profit and loss account 1 13 -23

 68 58 58 Tax payable on profit for the year (period tax) 105 84 76

 25 28,6 26 Tax payable as a % of profit for the year 27 33,5 22,8

    Tax payable recognised in the balance sheet   

 68 58 58 Tax payable on profit for the year 105 84 76

 9 10 8 Wealth tax 8 10 9

 -1  -2 Tax reduction due to paid group contributions -2  -1

 76 68 64 Tax payable in the balance sheet 111 94 84
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21. Pension liabilities relating to staff and elected representatives

Guaranteed scheme
Sparebanken Sør provides a group pension scheme for its 
employees through a life insurance company. The bank’s 
obligations in respect of this include 325 employees and 
200 retired employees. These liabilities are treated in the 
accounts in accordance with IAS 19. According to this ac-
counting standard, the bank’s pension scheme is treated as 
a defined benefit scheme. 

The estimated value at the end of the applicable accoun-
ting period is used when assessing the pension costs. The 
estimated value is adjusted annually in accordance with the 
statement from the life insurance company regarding the 
incurred pension liabilities.

An actuarial calculation is carried out annually based on in-
formation from the bank.

Non-guaranteed scheme 
The bank has the following non-guaranteed schemes fun-
ded directly through operations:
- The bank pays an annual amount to individual pensio 
 ners who have retired before ordinary retirement age, or  
 have not achieved full pension at the time of retirement.  
 The scheme includes 10 pensioners.
- The bank has 12 pensioners who receive AFP early retire 
 ment pension according to the old scheme.
- A scheme has been established for certain management  
 personnel who have the opportunity to retire following  
 an application with a gift pension in addition to AFP 
 early retirement. This scheme includes 10 management  
 personnel and 5 pensioners.

- A scheme has been established for the CEO with an obli 
 gation to retire on turning 62 years of age with entitle 
 ment to a pension until reaching 87 years of age, equiva 
 lent to 67% of the pension basis.

The new AFP early retirement scheme has been treated as a 
defined contribution scheme.

Calculations are based on 

the following assumptions: 2013 2012

Discount interest  3.80 % 2.60 %

Annual anticipated wage growth   3.50 % 3.50 %

Annual adjustment in national 

insurance basic amount  3.25 % 3.25 %

Annual anticipated adjustment 

of pensions being paid  0.20 % 0.10 %

Financial assumptions OB:

Discount interest 4.10 % 3.80 %

Annual anticipated wage growth 3.75 % 3.50 %

Annual anticipated adjustment in national 

insurance basic amount 3.50 % 3.50 %

Annual anticipated adjustment 

of pensions being paid  0.20 % 0.20 %

The following balance sheet items were affected by intro-
duction of IAS19 R:
The table concerns group figures, but the parent bank figu-
res have changed correspondingly.

 31/12/2011  Transitional 01/01/2012 

 presented accounts effect new OB

Pension assets 47 -47 0

Pension obligations -32 -42 -74

Deferred tax -15 26 11

Equity -2 957 65 -2 892

   
 31/12/2012  Transitional 01/01/2013  

 presented accounts  effect new OB

Pension assets 28 -28 0

Pension obligations -18 -28 -46

Deferred tax -3 17 14

Equity -3 110 39 -3 071
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 2013    2012 

Breakdown of pension costs for the year Guaranteed Non-guar. Guaranteed Non-guar.

Pensionable amounts accrued during the year 15 2 16 2

Interest costs relating to pension obligations 13 1 9 

Recognised return on pension assets -12  -8 

Administration costs   2 

New AFP early retirement scheme and premium defined contr. pension  3  2

Net pension costs recognised in profit and loss 16 6 19 4

Estimate deviations pensions carried to total result -11 4 -33 -2

Total pension costs 5 10 -14 2

Movements in pension obligations:    

Obligation at the beginning of the period -342 -16 -365 -31

Pension earnings for the year -15 -2 -16 -2

Interest costs relating to the pension liabilities -13               -1 -9 

Replaced senior executive agreement    10

Actuarial losses/gains carried to total result -5 -4 41 2

Pension payments 11 4 7 5

Pension obligations at the end of the period   -364 -19 -342 -16

 2013    2012

 Guaranteed Non-guar. Guaranteed Non-guar.

Movements in pension assets:     

Pension assets at the beginning of the period 312  321 

Anticipated return on the pension assets 12  8 

Actuarial losses / gains 16  -8 

Administration costs   -2 

Contributions 28   

Pension payments -11  -7 

Pension assets at the end of the  period 357  312 

Net pension obligations -7 -19 -30  -16

The Group’s pension schemes satisfy the requirements relating to mandatory occupational pension.

Investment profile for the pension assets    

  Short-term Money Long-term Real

 Shares  bonds market bonds estate Other

31.12.2012   9.1 % 15.9 % 20.1 % 36.2 % 17.2 % 1.5 %

31.12.2013   6.8 % 17.0 % 22.0 % 35.2 % 14.3 % 4.6 %
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Amounts in NOK 1 000

No. of employees

In 2013, there has been an average of 412 employees, 
including technical personnel, working in the Group. (The 
parent bank, Sør Boligkreditt and ABCenter). This represents 
364 FTE.

Fees paid in Parent Bank

Board of Trustees  448

Board of directors  1 286

Control committee  232

Total fees to elected representatives   1 966

Fees to external auditor (all amounts are ex. VAT):
 Parent Bank Group

Auditing 726 1 103

Tax advice 11 18

Accounts-related assistance 54 154

Other assistance 1 566 1 642

otal fees paid to external auditor 2 357 2 917

Loans and guarantees to Group employees Loans Guarantees

Ansatte 645 896 0

Costs relating to interest subsidy on loans to employees 
were MNOK 4.1.

Wages, loans/guarantees and other payments to key personnel
  Fees and     Loans Accrued
  other  Total Payment  Total  and pension
  remuner wages in kind remun. guarantees costs

Key personnel       

CEO   Geir Bergskaug 45 2 278 198 2 521 1 881 1 642

Director Retail Banking Gunnar Thomassen 20 1 311 163 1 494 1 190

Director Group Support Rolf H. Søraker  20 677 118 815 1 018 165

Director Corporate Market

01.01.- 30.08 Øyvind Aasen 20 863 118 1 003 2 262 187

Director Business Support Gry J. Moen 20 1 043 169 1 233 1 873 244

Director Capital Markets

01.01.– 30.09. Kjetil Korneliussen 20 667 116 799 1 214 109

Director Risk Management Magne Kvaslerud 20 1 041 161 1 223 2 099 164

Acting Director Corp. Market

01.09. – 31.12. Dagfinn Vaage 20 947 17 984 2 643 168

       

Man. Dir. Sør Boligkreditt AS Rolf H. Søraker  534  534  

       
The CEO has a termination payment agreement of one year’s salary if he is required to step down before the end of the 
agreed tenure

22. Information relating to employees and elected representatives

44



22. Information relating to employees and elected representatives continues

Wages, loans/guarantees and other payments to key personnel continues

  Fees and     Loans Accrued
  other   Total  Payment Total  and pension 
  remuner. wages in kind remun. guarantees costs

Board of directors       

Chairman 01.01-31.12 Torstein Moland 265   265 0 

Deputy 01.01-31.12 Unni Grete Farestveit 170  4 174 51 

Member 01.01-31.12 Kjell Pedersen-Rise 155  4 159 0 

Member 01.01-31.12 Erling Holm 150   150 1 850 

Member 01.01-31.12 Jill Akselsen 103   103 0 

Member 01.11-31.03 Olav Inge Nordbø 28  4 32 830 

Member 01.04-31.12 Marit Kittelsen 95   95 1 359 

Member 01.01-31.12 Leidulv Nesgård 120   120 0 

Member 01.01-31.12 Per A Bentsen 100 545 14 659 2 253 

Member 01.01-31.12 Cathy Steller 100 487 19 607 1 999 

Control Committee       

Chairman 01.01-31.12 Sverre Irgens 95   95 0 

Member 01.01-31.12 Dag Jørgen Hveem 68   68 0 

Member 01.01-31.12 Aage Petter Danielsen 68   68 0 

Board of Trustees       

Chairman 01.01-31.12 Øystein Haga 66   66 615 

Deputy 01.01-31.12 Harald F Andersen 33   33 1 679 

Member 01.01-31.12 Tor Kim Steinsland 19   19 1 949 

Member 01.01-31.03 Halvor A Øiestad 11   11 0 

Member 01.04-31.12 Kai Magne Strat 7   7 6 187 

Member 01.01-31.12 Kay Arne Jeiskelid 12   12 1 421 

Member 01.01-31.12 Jan K Lindland 9   9 350 

Member 01.01-31.12 Alf-Helge Holtskog 9   9 4 294 

Member 01.01-31.12 Linda Gjertsen 11   11 678 

Member 01.01-31.12 Per Jan Ougland 2   2 0 

Member 01.01-31.12 Wigdis Hansen 17   17 121 

Member 01.01-31.12 Birgitte Midgaard 19   19 313 

Member 01.01-31.03 Øyvind Tveit 52   52 0 

Member 01.04-19.06 Rune Hagestrand 4   4 0 

Member 20.06-31.12 Torunn Ostad 4   4 115 

Member 01.04-31.12 Erling Laland 2   2 1 769 

Member 01.01-31.12 Tone H Strat 21   21 351 

Member 01.01-31.12 Eirik C Sætra 11   11 1 037 

Member 01.01-31.12 Ole Martin Retterholt 13   13 747 

Member 01.01-31.03 Cheryl E Macdonald 7   7 4 010 

Member 01.04-31.12 Søren Seland 13   13 646 

Member 01.01-31.12 Einar Amundsen 13   13 370 

Member 01.01-31.12 Geir Sørensen 13 608 16 638 0 60

Member 01.01-31.12 Bjørg Jortveit 4 529 16 549 1 111 54

Member 20.06-31.12 Inger J Kvernsmyr 9 529 16 554 3 229 53

Member 01.01-31.12 Jan Tore Stenersen 11 623 31 665 1 573 
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22. Information relating to employees and elected representatives continues

Wages, loans/guarantees and other payments to key personnel continues

  Fees and      Loans Accrued 
  other Total Payment Total and  pension
  remuner. wages in kind remun. guarantees costs

Board of Trustees cont.       

Member 01.01-31.12 Arve Askildsen 13 579 14 606 1 617 52

Member 01.01-19.06 Tor Arvid Kristensen 4 471 14 489 560 42

Member 20.06-31.12 Erik Opsal 11 600 14 625 2 963 67

Member 01.01-31.12 Birger Sløgedal 13 508 14 535 0 

Member 01.01-31.12 Per Bø 13 629 19 661 2 153 69

Key personnel ABCenter       

Adm. dir. 01.09-31.12 Øyvind Aasen  424 54 478  

All loans have been granted on general terms, which apply to employees or on standard customer terms.

23. Closely related parties

Amounts in NOK 1 000 Group Board of Control Chairman of the 
 Management Directors Committee Board of Trustees 

 2013 2012 2013 2012 2013 2012 2013 2012

Loans outstanding  31.12. 10 733 10 476 7 514 8 299 0 0 615 480

Interest income 298 340 234 240 3 3 20 24

Deposits as at  31.12. 1 357 1 619 3 139 3 501 33 50 25 38

Interest costs 39 56 108 84 0 19 0 0

 Subsidiaries Assoc. companies   

 2013 2012 2013 2012

Loans outstanding  31.12. 1 377 458 972 732 49 000 0

Interest income 35 992 46 102 4 135 0

Deposits 31.12. 1 281 320 681 017 4 158 0

Interest costs 35 060 22 091 15 0

Interest on bonds in 

Sør Boligkreditt AS 2 000 000 2 130 000  

Interest on bonds in Sør Boligkreditt AS 48 095 113 481  

Management fees from Sør Boligkreditt AS 33 909 30 111  

Deposits also include funds from customers, which have not been recognised in the subsidiaries’ balance sheets.
Gross loans transferred to Sør Boligkreditt AS were MNOK 7,164 in 2013.
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24. Equity and related capital and capital adequacy

Capital adequacy

From and including 1st Q 2008, we have reported capital adequacy according to the Basel II Standard Approach.

The capital adequacy requirement is that the equity must be at least 8 per cent of a defined calculation basis.

The equity and related capital consist of core capital and supplementary capital in the form of subordinated loan capital.

  Parent Bank    Group 

 31.12.11 31.12.12 31.12.13  31.12.13 31.12.12 31.12.11

 2 830 2 350 2 488 Primary capital 2 488 2 350 2 830

  600 600 Equity certificates 600 600 

  28 32 Equalisation fund 32 28 

   13 Donation fund 13  

 200 200 200 Hybrid capital 200 200 200

    Other core capital 198 87 52

 -25 -23 -33 Deferred tax, goodwill and intangible assets -19 -12 -18

 8 14 4 Unrealised value change due to increased value of liabilities 4 14 8

    Allocated to capital adequacy reserve -26 -40 -12

 3 013 3 169 3 304 Total core capital 3 490 3 227 3 060

 300   Subordinated loan capital   300

 6 4 81 45% of fund for unrealised gains 81 4 6

    Allocated capital adequacy reserve -25 -4 -12

 306 4 81 Total supplementary capital 56 0 294

       

 3 319 3 173 3 385 Net equity and related capital 3 546 3 227 3 354

  Parent Bank    Group 

 31.12.11 31.12.12 31.12.13 Minimum Basel II equity and related capital requirement 31.12.13 31.12.12 31.12.11

    calculated according to the standard method:   

 5 2 4 Commitments with local and regional authorities 4 2 5

 75 51 240 Commitments with institutions 24 24 35

 375 411 375 Commitments with businesses 375 399 362

 280 277 301 Commitments with mass market 301 276 279

 600 632 621 Commitments with security in property 982 899 839

 39 37 38 Commitments that have matured 37 37 39

 43 38 40 Commitments in covered bonds 24 21 8

 1 1 0 Commitments in equity funds 0 1 1

 59 69 92 Other commitments 53 53 49

 1 477 1 518 1 711 Capital req. for credit and counterparty risk 1 800 1 712 1 617

 5 6 5 Capital req. For position, currency and commodity risk 5 6 5

 113 119 116 Capital req. for operational risk 134 134 126

 -10 -10 -16 Deduction in capital requirement -20 -14 -12

 1 585 1 633 1 816 Total minimum requirement for equity and related capital 1 919 1 838 1 736

       

 19.810 20.416 22.696 Risk-weighted balance (calculation basis) 23.985 22.976 21.696

 16.8 % 15.5 % 14.9 % Capital adequacy ratio 14.8 % 14.0 % 15.5 %

 15.2 % 15.5 % 14.5 % Core capital adequacy ratio 14.5 % 14.0 % 14.1 %

 14.2 % 14.5 % 13.6 % Pure core capital ratio 13.7 % 13.2 % 13.3 %

The Group aims to have a pure core capital ratio of 12%
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25. Financial assets and liabilities according to classification
      Total
  Fair value    book
 Trading through Amortised  Hedge Available value ex. Fair
Group 31.12.2013 portfolio P&L account cost accounting  for sale interest* value

Loans to financ. institutions   285   285 285

Loans to customers  1 960 37 466   39 426 39 377

Bonds and certificates  6 428    6 428 6 428

Shares 31    492 523 523

Financial derivatives  194  19  213 213

Total 31 8 582 37 751 19 492 46 875 46 826

Liabs. to financ. institutions   1 461   1 461 1 461

Deposits from customers   22 464   22 464 22 464

Debt est. through issue of securities  5 492 12 058 2 104  19 654 19 727

Financial derivatives  50    50 50

Hybrid capital   200   200 200

Total  5 542 36 183 2 104  43 829 43 902

     Total
  Fair value   book
 Trading through Amortised Available  value ex. Fair
Group 31.12.2012 portfolio P&L account cost for sale interest* value

Loans to finan. institutions   149  149 149

Loans to customers  1 934 34 916  36 850 36 850

Bonds and certificates  5 817   5 817 5 817

Shares 38   321 359 359

Financial derivatives  237   237 237

Total 38 7 988 35 065 321 43 412 43 412

Liabs. to finan. insitutions   2 542  2 542 2 542

Deposits from customers   20 999  20 999 20 999

Debt est. through issue of securities  8 324 8 871  17 195 17 242

Financial derivatives  59   59 59

Hybrid capital   200  200 192

Total  8 383 32 612  40 995 41 034

     Total
  Fair value   book
 Trading through Amortised Available value ex. Fair
Group 31.12.2011 portfolio P&L account cost for sale interest* value

Loans to finan. institutions   111  111 111

Loans to customers  1 322 32 259  33 581 33 581

Bonds and certificates  6 645   6 645 6 645

Shares 36   301 337 337

Financial derivatives  163   163 163

Total 36 8 130 32 370 301 40 837 40 837

Liabs.to finan. institutions   4 777  4 777 4 777

Deposits from customers   19 028  19 028 19 028

Debt est. through issue of securities  8 742 5 348  14 090 14 069

Finansielle derivater  87   87 87

Financial derivatives   300  300 299

Hybrid capital   200  200 196

Total  8 829 29 653  38 482 38 456
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25. Financial assets and liabilities according to classification cont.
*
  2013   2012   2011 

 Book Accrued/ Book Book Accrued/ Book Book Accrued/ Book
 value ex. incurred  value inc. value ex. incurred value inc. value ex.  incurred  value inc.
 interest interest interest interest interest interest interest interest interest

Loans to fin. institutions 285  285 149  149 111  111

Loans to customers 39 426 85 39 511 36 850 81 36 931 33 581 82 33 663

Bonds and certificates 6 428 17 6 445 5 817 19 5 836 6 645 25 6 670

Shares 523  523 359  359 337  337

Financial derivatives 213 187 400 237 168 405 163  163

Liabs. to fin. institutions 1 461 4 1 465 2 542 8 2 550 4 777 25 4 802

Deposits from customers 22 464 12 22 476 20 999 24 21 023 19 028 30 19 058

Debt est. through issue of securities 19 654 239 19 893 17 195 224 17 419 14 090 80 14 170

Financial derivatives 50 16 66 59 21 80 87  87

Equity and related capital       300  300

Hybrid capital 200  200 200  200 200  200

      Total
  Fair value     book
 Trading through  Amortised  Hedge Available value ex. Fair
Parent Bank  31.12.2013 portfolio P&L account cost accounting  for sale interest* value

Loans to fin. Institutions   1 485   1 485 1 485

Loans to customers  1 960 25 746   27 706 27 657

Bonds and certificates  8 436    8 436 8 436

Shares 31    492 523 523

Financial derivatives  194  9  203 203

Sum 31 10 590 27 231 9 492 38 353 38 304

       

Liabs. to finan. institutions   2 626   2 626 2 626

Deposits from customers   22 481   22 481 22 481

Debt est. through issue of securities  5 492 3 872 1 254  10 618 10 677

Financial derivatives  44    44 44

Hybrid capital   200   200 200

Sum  5 536 29 179 1 254  35 969 36 028

     Total
  Fair value     book
 Trading through  Amortised  Hedge Available value ex. Fair
Parent Bank  31.12.2012 portfolio P&L account cost accounting  for sale interest* value

Loans to fin. Institutions   950  950 950

Loans to customers  1 934 26 124  28 058 28 058

Bonds and certificates  7 963   7 963 7 963

Shares 38   321 359 359

Financial derivatives  237   237 237

Sum 38 10 134 27 074 321 37 567 37 567

      

Liabs. to finan. institutions   2 862  2 862 2 862

Deposits from customers   21 014  21 014 21 014

Debt est. through issue of securities  8 324 3 100  11 424 11 468

Financial derivatives  59   59 59

Hybrid capital   200  200 192

Sum  8 383 27 176  35 559 35 595
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25. Financial assets and liabilities according to classification cont.

     Total
  Fair value     book
 Trading through  Amortised  Hedge Available value ex. Fair
Parent Bank  31.12.2011 portfolio P&L account cost accounting  for sale interest* value

Loans to finan. institutions   1 111  1 111 1 111

Loans to customers  1 322 24 448  25 770 25 770

Bonds and certificates  11 014   11 014 11 014

Shares 36   301 337 337

Financial derivatives  163   163 163

Sum 36 12 499 25 559 301 38 395 38 395

      

Liabs. to finan. institutions   4 897  4 897 4 897

Deposits from customers   19 044  19 044 19 044

Debt est. through issue of securities  8 742 3 052  11 794 11 775

Financial derivatives  87   87 87

Equity and related capital   300  300 299

Hybrid capital   200  200 196

Sum  8 829 27 493  36 322 36 298

*
  2013   2012   2011 

 Book Accrued/ Book Book Accrued/ Book Book Accrued/ Book
 value ex. incurred  value inc. value ex. incurred value inc. value ex.  incurred  value inc.
 interest interest interest interest interest interest interest interest interest

Loans to fin. Institutions 1 485  1 485 950  950 1 111  1 111

Loans to customers 27 706 70 27 776 28 058 69 28 127 25 770 70 25 840

Bonds and certificates 8 436 28 8 464 7 963 31 7 994 11 014 25 11 039

Shares 523  523 359  359 337  337

Financial derivatives 203 160 363 237 168 405 163  163

Liabs. to fin. Institutions 2 626 4 2 630 2 862 8 2870 4 897 25 4 922

Deposits from customers 22 481 11 22 492 21 014 23 21 037 19 044 30 19 074

Debt est. through issue of securities 10 618 194 10 812 11 424 205 11 629 11 794 54 11 848

Financial derivatives 44 17 61 59 21 80 87  87

Equity and related capital       300  300

Hybrid capital 200  200 200  200 200  200

10% change in the value of the shares in the trading portfolio 
represents a total change in value of MNOK 3 after tax.
A general change in credit spreads toward NIBOR/swap 
interest of 10 points in our portfolio of bonds and certificates 
represents a change in fair value of MNOK 12 after tax.
A 10-point change in credit spread on our securities-related 
debt and associated derivatives represents a change in fair 
value of MNOK 49 after tax.  

The effect of the change in the general interest rate level 
has been discussed in note 29

Determination of fair value 

When determining the fair value, the information used is 
divided into three levels.

Level 1: Quoted prices in active markets for identical assets 
and obligations.
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Group 31.12.2013 Level 1 Level 2 Level 3 Total

Bonds and certificates  6 428  6 428

Loans to customers  1 960  1 960

Shares 31  492 523

Financial derivatives  213  213

    

Securities-related debt  7 596  7 596

Financial derivatives  50  50

Group 31.12.2012 Level 1 Level 2 Level 3 Total

Bonds and certificates  5 817  5 817

Loans to customers  1 934  1 934

Shares 38  321 359

Financial derivatives  237  237

    

Securities-related debt  8 324  8 324

Financial derivatives  59  59

Group 31.12.2011 Level 1 Level 2 Level 3 Total

Bonds and certificates  6 645  6 645

Loans to customers  1 322  1 322

Shares 36  301 337

Financial derivatives  163  163

    

Securities-related debt  8 742  8 742

Financial derivatives  87  87

Group 31.12.2013 Level 1 Level 2 Level 3 Total

Bonds and certificates  8 436  8 436

Loans to customers  1 960  1 960

Shares 31  492 523

Financial derivatives  203  203

    

Securities-related debt  6 746  6 746

Financial derivatives  44  44

Level 2: Other information than in level 1, which is observable 
for the asset / liability, either directly or indirectly. When 
determining the value of interest instruments, the bank 
obtains information available in the market regarding 
credit spreads on equivalent instruments for equivalent 
users. The determination of value is based on the basis of 
average values of what the various players have used.

The following credit spread has been used when assessing 
the bank’s securities-related debt:

Term to maturity 31.12.2013 31.12.2012

3 months 0.17 0.02

1 year 0.23 -0.14

2 years 0.45 0.55

3 years 0.62 0.88

5 years 0.85 1.26

7 years 0.90 1.34

10 years 0.95 1.42

Level 3: Other input not based on observable market data.

25. Financial assets and liabilities according to classification cont.
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Group 31.12.2012 Level 1 Level 2 Level 3 Total

Bonds and certificates  7 963  7 963

Loans to customers  1 934  1 934

Shares 38  321 359

Financial derivatives  237  237

    

Securities-related debt  8 324  8 324

Financial derivatives  59  59

Group 31.12.2011 Level 1 Level 2 Level 3 Total

Bonds and certificates  11 014  11 014

Loans to customers  1 322  1 322

Shares 36  301 337

Financial derivatives  163  163

    

Securities-related debt  8 742  8 742

Financial derivatives  87  87

Items assessed in accordance with level 3 concern investments available for sale and have had the following movements

 2013 2012 2011

Holding as at 01/01 321 301 301

Additions   11 29 16

Payment on sale -7 -3 0

Valuation carried to P&L accounts 0 -2 -13

Valuation carried to equity 166 -4 -3

Gains incorporated in P&L account 1 0 0

Reversal if gains previously carried to equity 0 0 0

Holding as at 31/12 492 321 301

25. Financial assets and liabilities according to classification cont.

26.  Loans according to types, markets and risk

Loans according to types and markets

31.12.2013 Retail Banking Market Corporate Market 

 Gross Write- Net Gross Write- Net Total net
Group loans down loans loans down loans loans

Credit facilities 6 991 5 6 986 1 163 46 1 117 8 103

Building loans 185  185 532 5 527 712

Repayment loans 19 616 45 19 571 9 369 273 9 096 28 667

Total loans with floating interest rate at amortised cost 26 792 50 26 742 11 064 324 10 740 37 482

Repayment loans on fixed interest rate at fair value 1 697  1 697 246  246 1 943

Accrued interest 46  46 40  40 86

Total loans 28 535 50 28 485 11 350 324 11 026 39 511
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26.  Loans according to types, markets and risk cont.

31.12.2012 Retail Banking Market Corporate Market 

 Gross Write- Net Gross Write- Net Total net
Group loans down loans loans down loans loans

Credit facilities 6 451 1 6 450 1 163 38 1 125 7 575

Building loans 204 2 202 597 18 579 781

Repayment loans 17 614 40 17 574 9 205 219 8 986 26 560

Total loans with floating interest rate at amortised cost 24 269 43 24 226 10 965 275 10 690 34 916

Repayment loans on fixed interest rate at fair value 1 599  1 599 335  335 1 934

Accrued interest 42  42 39  39 81

Total loans 25 910 43 25 867 11 339 275 11 064 36 931

31.12.2011 Retail Banking Market Corporate Market 

 Gross Write- Net Gross Write- Net Total net
Group loans down loans loans down loans loans

Credit facilities 5 900 1 5 899 1 196 56 1 140 7 039

Building loans 183 1 182 667 33 634 816

Repayment loans 15 854 42 15 812 8 801 186 8 615 24 427

Total loans with floating interest rate at amortised cost 21 937 44 21 893 10 664 275 10 389 32 282

Repayment loans on fixed interest rate at fair value 1 091  1 091 208  208 1 299

Accrued interest 42  42 40  40 82

Total loans 23 070 44 23 026 10 912 275 10 637 33 663

31.12.2013 Retail Banking Market Corporate Market 

 Gross Write- Net Gross Write- Net Total net
Parent Bank loans down loans loans down loans loans

Credit facilities 3 310 5 3 305 1 163 46 1 117 4 422

Building loans 185  185 532 5 527 712

Nedbetalingslån 11 419 39 11 380 9 523 273 9 250 20 630

Total loans with floating interest rate at amortised cost 14 914 44 14 870 11 218 324 10 894 25 764

Repayment loans on fixed interest rate at fair value 1 697  1 697 246  246 1 943

Accrued interest 29  29 40  40 69

Total loans 16 640 44 16 596 11 504 324 11 180 27 776

31.12.2012 Retail Banking Market Corporate Market 

 Gross Write- Net Gross Write- Net Total net
Parent Bank loans down loans loans down loans loans

Credit facilities 3 431 1 3 430 1 163 38 1 125 4 555

Building loans 204 2 202 597 18 579 781

Repayment loans 11 684 36 11 648 9 359 219 9 140 20 788

Total loans with floating interest rate at amortised cost 15 319 39 15 280 11 119 275 10 844 26 124

Repayment loans on fixed interest rate at fair value 1 599  1 599 335  335 1 934

Accrued interest 30  30 39  39 69

Total loans 16 948 39 16 909 11 493 275 11 218 28 127
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31.12.2011 Retail Banking Market Corporate Market 

 Gross Write- Net Gross Write- Net Total net
Parent Bank loans down loans loans down loans loans

Credit facilities 3 308 1 3 307 1 196 56 1 140 4 447

Building loans 183 1 182 667 33 634 816

Repayment loans 10 463 38 10 425 8 968 186 8 782 19 207

Total loans with floating interest rate at amortised cost 13 954 40 13 914 10 831 275 10 556 24 470

Repayment loans on fixed interest rate at fair value 1 091  1 091 209  209 1 300

Accrued interest 30  30 40  40 70

Total loans 15 075 40 15 035 11 080 275 10 805 25 840

 

Loans, guarantees, default, etc. according to key industries and sectors   

    Building and 

Group Public sector Primary industry Industry Construction         

 2013 2012 2011 2013 2012 2011 2013 2012 2011 2013 2012 2011

Gross loans 16 33 21 532 483 449 631 650 689 1 630 1 729 1 858

Guarantees 0 0 0 3 4 3 105 107 165 146 148 140

Unused drawing rights 0 31 21 77 70 57 163 235 245 247 316 317

Commitments in default 0 0 0 1 3 0 9 5 20 52 39 95

Other bad and doubtful commitments 0 0 0 3 3 3 23 25 13 61 55 26

Write-downs on individual loans 0 0 0 2 2 1 12 8 6 34 32 52

Spec. loss provisions - guarantees 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

Group Transport Hotel and restaurant Real estate Business services 

 2013 2012 2011 2013 2012 2011 2013 2012 2011 2013 2012 2011

Gross loans 421 464 360 249 238 263 5 502 5 527 4 925 868 738 836

Guarantees 44 38 33 4 5 5 40 50 38 52 58 56

Unused drawing rights 43 64 33 14 15 20 298 381 261 93 102 110

Commitments in default 7 9 14 2 6 6 43 90 63 9 8 11

Other band and doubtful commitments 2 17 15 22 14 15 13 106 134 0 44 0

Write-down on individual loans 1 16 16 8 6 6 10 31 47 44 47 3

Spec. loss provisions- guarantees 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

Group  Retail banking customers Other TOTAL 

    2013 2012 2011 2013 2012 2011 2013 2012 2011

Gross loans    28 319 25 781 23 108 1 631 1 525 1 391 39 799 37 168 33 900

Guarantees    13 14 14 105 91 85 512 515 539

Unused drawing rights    1 918 1 917 1 783 328 285 309 3 181 3 416 3 156

Commitments in default    113 116 123 18 5 7 254 281 339

Other bad and doubtful commitments    15 33 41 310 20 47 449 317 294

Write-down on individual loans    28 29 31 133 19 33 272 190 195

Spec. loss provisions - guarantees    0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

26.  Loans according to types, markets and risk cont.
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    Building and 

Parent Bank Public sector Primary industry Industry Construction        

 2013 2012 2011 2013 2012 2011 2013 2012 2011 2013 2012 2011

Gross loans 16 33 21 511 468 433 616 638 675 1 521 1 646 1 785

Guarantees 0 0 0 3 4 3 105 107 165 146 148 140

Unused drawing rights 0 31 21 76 69 56 161 234 245 239 311 314

Commitments in default 0 0 0 1 3 0 9 5 20 52 39 95

Other bad and doubtful commitments 0 0 0 3 3 3 23 25 13 61 55 26

Write-downs on individual loans 0 0 0 2 2 1 12 8 6 34 32 52

Spec. loss provisions - guarantees 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

    

Parent Bank Transport Hotel and restaurant Real estate Business services         

 2013 2012 2011 2013 2012 2011 2013 2012 2011 2013 2012 2011

Gross loans 370 428 331 238 232 251 5 638 5 670 5 089 803 680 796

Guarantees 44 38 33 4 5 5 40 50 38 42 58 56

Unused drawing rights 40 61 31 13 15 20 297 381 261 72 91 102

Commitments in default 7 9 14 2 6 6 43 90 63 9 8 11

Other bad and doubtful commitments 2 17 15 22 14 15 13 106 134 0 44 0

Write-down on individual loans 1 16 16       8 6 6 10 31 47 44 47 3

Spec. loss provisions - guarantees 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

      

Parent Bank  Retail banking customers Other TOTAL                 

    2013 2012 2011 2013 2012 2011 2013 2012 2011

Gross loans    16 840 17 123 15 377 1 522 1 454 1 327 28 075 2 372 26 085

Guarantees    13 14 14 115 91 85 512 515 539

Unused drawing rights    814 1 143 1 106 323 279 306 2 035 2 615 2 462

Commitments in default    111 116 123 18 5 7 252 281 339

Other bad and doubtful commitments    15 33 41 310 20 47 449 317 294

Write-down on individual loans    28 29 31 133 19 33 272 190 195

Spec. loss provisions – guarantees    0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

The bank’s exposure in the real estate segment represents a concentration risk.

26.  Loans according to types, markets and risk cont.
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26.  Loans according to types, markets and risk cont.

Gross loans according to geography

  Parent Bank     Group 

 2011 2012 2013   2013 2012 2011

 4 456 5 444 5 642 Telemark 7 418 6 549 5 403

 9 456 9 950 9 807 Aust-Agder 14 745 13 688 12 787

 9 373 9 843 9 394 Vest-Agder 12 725 12 378 11 660

 2 800 3 135 3 232 Other 4 911 4 553 4 050

 26 085 28 372 28 075 Total  39 799 37 168 33 900

 Guarantees according to geography  

  Parent Bank     Group 

 2011 2012 2013   2013 2012 2011

 70 97 111 Telemark 111 97 70

 225 219 220 Aust-Agder 220 219 225

 218 173 143 Vest-Agder 143 173 218

 26 26 38 Other 38 26 26

 539 515 512 Total  512 515 539

Commitments in default and individual write-downs on loans

  Parent Bank     Group 

 2011 2012 2013  2013 2012 2011

 339 281 252 Commitments in default 254 281 339

 -92 -80 -53 Write-downs -53 -80 -92

 247 201 199 Net commitments in default 201 201 247

       

 293 317 449 Bad and doubtful commitments 449 317 293

 -103 -110 -219 Write-downs -219 -110 -103

 190 207 230 Net bad and doubtful commitments 230 207 190

Loans according to risk classes

The models used have been based on internal and external 
data for calculation of probability of default (PD) and 
expected losses (EL) at customer and portfolio level. Retail 
banking and corporate market customers are scored each 
month into 11 classes (A – K) based on the probability of 
default. Class K consists of defaulted loans and commitments 
with individual write-downs.  
The table below shows the intervals for the different risk 
classes based on the probability of default.

Risk class PD Lower limit PD Upper limit

A 0.00 0.10

B 0.10 0.25

C 0.25 0.50

D 0.50 0.75

E 0.75 1.25

F 1.25 2.00

G 2.00 3.00

H 3.00 5.00

I 5.00 8.00

J 8.00 100.00

K 100.00 100.00
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The risk classification only takes into consideration debt serving capacity, i.e., calculation of the probability of default. The-
refore, the collateral is not taken into account when dividing customers into risk classes below.

26.  Loans according to types, markets and risk cont.

  Parent Bank    Group 

 2011 2012 2013  2013 2012 2011

 503 523 580 Loans with individual write-down included under risk class K 580 523 503

 -195 -190 -272 Individual write-down -272 -190 -195

 308 333 308 Net loans with individual write-down 308 333 308

    Loans with collective write-down included in:  1     

 51 57 59 Risk class A-D 88 79 70

 98 111 109 Risk class E-G 139 131 114

 33 37 45 Risk class H 50 40 36

 52 45 37 Risk class I 41 47 54

 238 294 238 Risk class J 270 317 251

 472 544 488 Total loans with collective write-down 588 614 525

 -120 -124 -96 Collective write-down -102 -128 -124

 352 420 392 Net loans with collective write-down 486 486 401

    Loans in default 1) with no individual write-down included under risk class K, according to age: 

 

 50 17 24 Up to 1 month 26 17 50

 25 13 24 1-3 months 24 13 25

 18 6 19 3-6 months 19 6 18

 9 9 30 6-12 months 30 9 9

 27 30 24 More than 1 year 24 30 27

          Total loans in default against which no individual write-down

 129 75 121 has been made – included under risk class K 123 75 129

    Loans no in default with no write-down   

 15 759 16 680 16 883 Risk class A-D 26 003 23 764 22 235

 6 640 7 701 7 365 Risk class E-G 9 553 9 139 7 774

 827 927 1 115 Risk class H 1 240 1 004 901

 770 682 539 Risk class I 601 716 797

 985 1 240 983 Risk class J 1 112 1 333 1 036

 24 981 27 230 26 885 Total risk class A-J 38 509 35 956 32 743

       

 25 770 28 058 27 706 Total net loans, ex. accrued interest 39 426 36 850 33 581

 70 69 70 Accrued interest 85 81 82

 25 840 28 127 27 776 Total net loans inc. accrued interest 39 511 36 931 33 663

1) A loan is defined as being in default when instalments or interest due have not been paid 90 days after the due date or 
that the credit limits have been overdrawn for more than 90 days.

1 Lending volume has been calculated by multiplying the lending volume by the average probability for default (PD) in each 
risk class.
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26.  Loans according to types, markets and risk cont.

Open risk according to risk classes when the value of collateral security has been taken into consideration. 

Shows the average open risk as a percentage.

  Parent Bank    Group 

 2011 2012 2013  2013 2012 2011

 4.9% 4.6% 5.1% Risk class A-D 3.3% 3.2% 3.6%

 4.7% 3.9% 3.8% Risk class E-G 3.1% 3.4% 4.1%

 4.4% 3.1% 3.1% Risk class H 2.8% 2.9% 4.0%

 4.1% 5.4% 2.4% Risk class I 2.2% 5.2% 3.9%

 2.4% 1.9% 3.7% Risk class J 3.3% 1.8% 2.3%

 4.7% 4.2% 4.5% Total 3.2% 3.2% 3.7%

27. Securities

  Parent Bank     Group 

 2011 2012 2013  Risk weighting 2013 2012 2011

    Bonds and certificates    

 3 028 2 027 2 049 Bonds and certificates issued by the public sector 0 % 2 049 2 027 3 028

 303 104 380 Bonds and certificates issued by the public sector 20 % 380 104 303

 0 0 0 Bonds and certificates issued by the public sector 100 % 0 0 0

 152 0 0 Bonds and certificates issued by others 0 % 0 0 152

 5 375 4 731 4 983 Bonds and certificates issued by others 10 % 2 975 2 585 1 006

 1 003 233 230 Bonds and certificates issued by others 20 % 230 233 1 003

 1 153 868 794 Bonds and certificates issued by others 100 % 794 868 1 153

 25 31 28 Accrued interest income  17 19 25

 11 039 7 994 8 464 Total bonds and certificates  6 445 5 836 6 670

    Shares at fair value through P&L account    

 36 38 31 Listed equity instruments in the trading portfolio  31 38 36

 36 38 31 Total shares valued at fair value through the P&L account  31 38 36
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27. Securities cont.

 No. of % equity  Acquisition Fair 

Trading portfolio shares stake cost value

Financial institutions

Sparebank 1 SMN  222 189 0.17 6 12

Sparebanken Pluss 31 600 2.53 4 5

Sparebank 1 SR Bank 169 925 0.07 4 10

Sparebanken Vest 87 526 0.28 4 4

Total trading portfolio   18 31

 No. of % equity  Acquisition Fair 

Shares at fair value with value change against equity shares stake cost value

Shares available for sale 

Coventure 1 619 8.72 3 2

Brage Finans 7 000 000 14.00 43 43

Eksportfinans 3 497 1.32 41 66

Frende Holding  673 296 9.96 86 152

Nets Holding 2 554 263 1.39 111 202

Nordito Property 309 243 3.05 1 1

Norne Eierselskap 31 414 019 17.60 25 8

Såkorninvest Sør 571 400 3.30 2 0

Visa Inc. A-aksjer 7 154 0.01 3 10

Other companies     7 2

Shares in limited liability companies

Skagerak Venture Capital   6 3

Skagerak Seed Capital   3 3

Total shares in available for sale   331 492

Total shares    349     523
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28. Funding risk  

Funding risk/time remaining to maturity
Funding risk involves the risk of the bank not being able to meet its obligations at maturity, or to refinance its debt as it 
falls due for payment, or being unable to fund an increase in total assets. Funding risk arises as a result of different times 
remaining to maturity on claims and liabilities. The bank makes every effort to reduce the risk by prioritising more long-
term funding, provided this can be arranged at an acceptable cost in relation to short-term funding. Furthermore, the way 
in which the deposit-to-loan ratio develops is crucial for the bank’s independence on the money market. 
Refer to note 3 for further information about funding risk.

The tables below show the remaining times to maturity for the main items on the liabilities side of the Group’s balance 
sheet, including interest from 31/12 and up to maturity.

      No Total Balance

Group Up to 3 months 2-3 4-5 Over maturity inc. sheet

Liabilities as at 31.12.2013 3 months – 1 year years years 5 years agreed  interest total

Liabs. to financ. institutions 471 609 414    1 494 1 465

Deposits from and liabs. to customers 22 260 287     22 547 22 476

Debt est. through issue of securities 416 1 844 9 018 6 776 3 952  22 006 19 893

Other liabilities 172 66    110 348 348

Hybrid capital 2 8 21 21 221  273 200

Total liabilities 23 321 2 814 9 453 6 797 4 173 110 46 668 44 382

      No Total Balance

Group Up to 3 months 2-3 4-5 Over maturity inc. sheet

Liabilities as at 31.12.2012 3 months – 1 year years years 5 years agreed  interest total

Liabs. to financ. institutions 305 432 1 486 408   2 631 2 550

Deposits from and liabs. to customers 20 792 282     21 074 21 023

Debt est. through issue of securities 399 2 020 8 485 5 561 2 692  19 157 17 419

Other liabilities 203 48    131 382 382

Hybrid capital 2 8 22 22 233  287 200

Total liabilities 21 701 2 790 9 993 5 991 2 925 131 43 531 41 574

      No Total Balance

Parent Bank Up to 3 months 2-3 4-5 Over maturity inc. sheet

Liabilities as at 31.12.2013 3 months – 1 year years years 5 years agreed  interest total

Liabs. to financ. institutions 1 638 609 414    2 661 2 630

Deposits from and liabs. to customers 22 276 287     22 563 22 492

Debt est. through issue of securities 338 1 710 5 003 4 104 750  11 905 10 812

Other liabilities 127 43    99 269 269

Hybrid capital 2 8 21 21 221  273 200

Total liabilities 24 381 2 657 5 438 4 125 971 99 37 671 36 403
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28. Funding risk cont.

      No Total Balance

Parent Bank Up to 3 months 2-3 4-5 Over maturity inc. sheet

Liabilities as at 31.12.2012 3 months – 1 year years years 5 years agreed  interest total

Liabs. to financ. institutions 625 432 1 486 408   2 951 2 870

Deposits from and liabs. to customers 20 806 282     21 088 21 037

Debt est. through issue of securities 358 1 915 5 723 3 247 1 596  12 839 11 629

Other liabilities 165 35    132 332 332

Hybrid capital 2 8 22 22 233  287 200

Total liabilities  21 956 2 672 7 231 3 677 1 829 132 37 497 36 068

Liquidity indicator

The bank uses liquidity indicators according to Norges Bank’s standard.

Liquidity indicator 1 may be defined as follows:

Financing with remaining term to maturity of more than 1 year

Illiquid assets

 2013 2012 2011

Liquidity indicator 1 as at 31.12. 110.5 110.1 106.4

Liquidity indicator 1 – average for the year 108.0 109.5 103.2

61



29. Interest rate risk

Interest rate risk / remaining time to agreed/probable change in interest rate
Interest rate risk arises when there are differences in the interest rate fixing period between asset and liability items. The 
bank will therefore not be able to apply interest rate changes on a parallel basis for all balance sheet items. Total interest 
rate risk, together with interest rate risk relating to the portfolio of certificates and bonds, is reported on a regular basis 
to the board of directors. The bank shall have a moderate risk and throughout the year, the risk has been within the limits 
adopted by the board of directors. 

Based on the bank’s balance sheet as at 31 December 2013, a parallel shift in the yield curve of 1 percentage point would 
produce an aggregate impact on the overall result of around MNOK 3.2. 

The table below shows the remaining time until the next interest rate refixing for the main items in the Group’s balance sheet.

Group at. 31.12.2013 Up to 1 – 3 3 months 1 – 5 Over No

Assets 1 month months. – 1 year years 5 years interest Total

       

Cash and claims on central banks 295     86 381

Loans to and claims on financial institutions 285      285

Loans to and claims on customers  37 545 248 1 374 258 86 39 511

Bonds and certificates 871 4 889 599 5 64 17 6 445

Other asset items      1 280 1 280

Total assets 1 451 42 434 847 1 379 322 1 469 47 902

       

Of which in foreign currency 49 736    234 1 019

Equity and liabilities       

       

Debt to finan. institutions 33 1 035 397    1 465

Deposits from and liabs. to customers 353 21 423 623 66  11 22 476

Debt est. through issue of securities 1 250 11 315 920 4 610 1 558 240 19 893

Other liabilities      348 348

Hybrid capital  200     200

Equity      3 520 3 520

Total equity and liabilities 1 636 33 973 1 940 4 676 1 558 4 119 47 902

       

Of which in foreign currency  539    11 550

       

Net interest rate exposure on the balance sheet -185 8 461 -1 093 -3 297 -1 236 -2 650 

Nominal value of financial derivatives 

that affect the interest rate exposure -2 085 -3 256 598 3 523 1 220  

Total interest rate exposure -2 270 5 205 -495 226 -16 -2 650 

       

Net interest rate exposure as a % of total assets -4.7 10.9 -1.0 0.5 0 -5.5 
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29. Interest rate risk cont.

Group at. 31.12.2012 Up to 1 – 3 3 months 1 – 5 Over No

Assets 1 month months. – 1 year years 5 years interest Total

       

Cash and claims on central banks 523     58 581

Loans to and claims on finan. Institutions 149      149

Loans to and claims on customers 15 34 941 124 1 513 257 81 36 931

Bonds and certificates 874 4 732 101 51 59 19 5 836

Other asset items      1 148 1 148

Total assets 1 561 39 673 225 1 564 316 1 306 44 645

       

Of which in foreign currency 22 826    148 996

Equity and liabilities       

       

Debt to finan. institutions 293 1 454 795   8 2 550

Deposits from and liabs. to customers 138 19 802 1 047 12  24 21 023

Debt est. through issue of securities 1 251 9 394 1 609 3 414 1 527 224 17 419

Other liabilities      382 382

Hybrid capital  200     200

Equity      3 071 3 071

Total equity and liabilities 1 682 30 850 3 451 3 426 1 527 3 709 44 645

       

Of which in foreign currency 2 480    18 500

       

Net interest rate exposure on the balance sheet -121 8 823 -3 226 -1 862 -1 211 -2 403 

Nominal value of financial derivatives 

that affect interest rate exposure -1 315 -3 570 1 340 2 325 1 220  

Total interest rate exposure -1 436 5 253 -1 886 463 9 -2 403 

       

Net interest rate exposure as a % of total assets -3.2 11.8 -4.2 1.0 0.0 -5.4 
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29. Interest rate risk cont.

Parent Bank at. 31.12.2013 Up to 1 – 3 3 months 1 – 5 Over No

Assets 1 month months. – 1 year years 5 years interest Total

       

Cash and claims on central banks 295     86 381

Loans to and claims on finan. Institutions 1 485      1 485

Loans to and claims on customers  25 826 248 1 374 258 70 27 776

Bonds and certificates 2 879 4 889 599 5 64 28 8 464

Other asset items      1 611 1 611

Total assets 4 659 30 715 847 1 379 322 1 795 39 717

       

Of which in foreign currency 49 736    234 1 019

Equity and liabilities       

       

Debt to finan. institutions 1 198 1 035 397    2 630

Deposits from and liabs. to customers 353 21 439 623 66  11 22 492

Debt est. through issue of securities  4 385 920 4 610 703 194 10 812

Other liabilities      269 269

Hybrid capital  200     200

Equity      3 314 3 314

Total equity and liabilities 1 551 27 059 1 940 4 676 703 3 788 39 717

       

Of which in foreign currency  539    11 550

       

Net interest rate exposure on the balance sheet 3 108 3 656 -1 093 -3 297 -381 -1 993 

Nominal value of financial derivatives 

that affect the interest rate exposure -1 585 -2 906 598 3 523 370  

Total interest rate exposure 1 523 750 -495 226 -11 -1 993 

       

Net interest rate exposure as a % of total assets 3.8 1.9 -1.2 0.6 0 -5.0 
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29. Interest rate risk cont.

Parent Bank at. 31.12.2012 Up to 1 – 3 3 months 1 – 5 Over No

Assets 1 month months. – 1 year years 5 years interest Total

       

Cash and claims on central banks 523     58 581

Loans to and claims on finan. institutions 950      950

Loans to and claims on customers 15 26 149 124 1 513 257 69 28 127

Bonds and certificates 2 889 4 863 101 51 59 31 7 994

Other asset items      1 404 1 404

Total assets 4 377 31 012 225 1 564 316 1 562 39 056

       

Of which foreign currency 22 826    148 996

Equity and liabilities       

       

Liabs. to finan. institutions 613 1 454 795   8 2 870

Deposits from and liabs. to customers 138 19 817 1 047 12  23 21 037

Debt est. through issue of securities  4 874 1 609 3 414 1 527 205 11 629

Other liabilities      332 332

Hybrid capital  200     200

Equity      2 988 2 988

Total equity and liabilities 751 26 345 3 451 3 426 1 527 3 556 39 056

       

Of which foreign currency 2 480    18 500

       

Net interest rate risk exposure on the balance sheet 3 626 4 667 -3 226 -1 862 -1 211 -1 994 

Nominal value of financial derivatives 

that affect the interest rate exposure -1 315 -3 570 1 340 2 325 1 220  

Total interest rate exposure 2 311 1 097 -1 886 463 9 -1 994 

Net interest rate exposure as a % of total assets 5.9 2.8 -4.8 1.2 0.0 -5.1 
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30. Bond and certificate debt according to maturity 

   Of which     

  Nominal for own Book Fair  Repayment Final

ISIN number Ticker amount account value value Coupon structure maturity

NO 0010467525 SORG20 PRO 900 718 183 183 NIBOR 3M + 2.15 Bullet 17.02.2014

NO 0010599129 SORG26 PRO 750 195 555 557 NIBOR 3M + 0.80 Bullet 20.05.2014

NO 0010490410 SORG21 PRO 900 0 920 920 5.25 % Bullet 17.09.2014

NO 0010563794 SORG22 PRO 900 0 902 903 NIBOR 3M + 0.55 Bullet 04.02.2015

NO 0010601404 SORG27 PRO 550 0 572 572 5.0 % Bullet 29.05.2015

NO 0010585284 SORG23 PRO 900 0 898 910 NIBOR 3M + 1.00 Bullet 16.09.2015

NO 0010629165 SORG29 PRO 300 85 223 223 4.3 % Bullet 23.11.2015

NO 0010302425 SORG06 900 0 936 936 4.25 % Bullet 19.02.2016

NO 0010624703 SORG28 PRO 900 0 906 920 NIBOR 3M + 1.40 Bullet 05.09.2016

NO 0010598535 SORG25 PRO 700 4 744 744 5.0 % Bullet 20.01.2017

NO 0010634801 SORG30 PRO 950 20 940 966 NIBOR 3M + 1.90 Bullet 16.03.2017

NO 0010635055 SORG31 PRO 1 000 0 1 073 1 073 4.95% Bullet 26.01.2018

NO 0010649338 SORG32 PRO 1 000 0 1 062 1 062 4.65% Bullet 11.05.2018

NO 0010675358 SORG33 PRO 400 0 400 400 3.40% Bullet 17.06.2019

NO 0010692189 SORG34 PRO 300 0 304 304 4.00% Bullet 28.04.2021

Accrued interest    194    

TOTAL parent bank  11 350 1 022 10 812 10.673   

   Of which     

  Nominal for own Book Fair  Repayment Final

ISIN number Ticker amount account value value Coupon structure maturity

NO 0010633415 SORB05 1 225 0 1 226 1.232 NIBOR 3M + 0.44 Bullet 23.03.2015

NO 0010625841 SORB03 1 250 0 1 250 1.249 NIBOR 3M + 0.53 Bullet 05.10.2015

NO 0010614688 SORB02 1 200 0 1 201 1.200 NIBOR 3M + 0.50 Bullet 29.06.2016

NO 0010623945 SORB01 1 200 0 1 197 1.199 NIBOR 3M + 0.53 Bullet 24.08.2017

NO 0010649056 SORB06 1 250 0 1 257 1.264 NIBOR 3M + 0.72 Bullet 20.06.2018

NO 0010679806 SORB10 1 250 0 1 249 1.249 NIBOR 3M + 0.44 Bullet 22.05.2019

NO 0010664659 SORB07 800 0 801 803 NIBOR 3M + 0.54 Bullet 27.11.2019

NO 0010671597 SORB09 350 0 353 353 3.85% Bullet 13.02.2023

NO 0010670409 SORB08 500 0 501 501 4.00% Bullet 24.01.2028

Accrued interest    46    

TOTAL Sør Boligkreditt AS 9 025 0 9 081 9 050   

TOTAL Group inc. incurred interest 20 375 1 022 19 893 19 723   

As at 31 December 2013, covered bonds issued by Sør Boligkreditt AS, which is owned by Sparebanken Sør, amounted to BNOK 2.0.

31. Hybrid capital
                      Of which 

  Nominal for own Fair  Repayment Final

Name  amount account value Coupon structure maturity

NO 0010592348 SORG24 200 0 201 NIBOR 3M + 3.60 Bullet Perpetual

From and including 8 December 2020, the margin is 4.60%. The bank has right of redemption at 100% of the nominal value, the first time 

being on 8 December 2020 and then annually every 8th December.

If government regulations result in changes that affect to what extent the hybrid capital can be regarded as core capital, the bank has 

from June 2013 to redeem all outstanding covered bonds at a price equivalent to 100% of the nominal value plus incurred interest. 
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32. Derivatives

Group 2013 2012 2011 

 Assets Liabs. Assets Liabs. Assets Liabs.

 Book  Book  Book  Book  Book  Book 

Ordinary banking operations as at 31.12. value value value value value value 

     

Forward exchange contracts – bought and sold 18 7 35 18 23 47

Interest rate swap contracts 382 59 370 62 140 40

Total financial derivatives 400 66 405 80 163 87

Parent Bank    

Forward exchange contracts – bought and sold 18 7 35 18 23 47

Interest rate swap contracts 345 54 370 62 140 40

Total financial derivatives 363 61 405 80 163 87

Interest rate swap contracts:  Agreements to swap interest rate conditions for a nominal amount for a fixed period.
Forward exchange contracts:  Agreements to buy or sell a certain currency amount at a future date or at an agreed rate.

33. Security and guarantees

Bonds and certificates at book value of BNOK 1.5 have been pledged as collateral for intra-day loans and loans in Norges 
Bank. Such loans will be secured through pledging securities in VPS ASA.

Covered bonds issued by Sør Boligkreditt AS with a nominal value of BNOK 0.9 are owned by the bank and used in connec-
tion with the swap scheme established by Norges Bank.

34. Set-off

Assets  Parent Bank Group 

Financial derivatives, gross amount, ex. interest   203  213 

Liabilities    

Financial derivatives, gross amount, ex. interest   44  50 

Net assets after set-off   126   131 

The Group’s right of set-off follows the general rules under Norwegian law. Set-off clauses are included in all the bank’s 
standard loan and product agreements.

35. Equity certificates

In 2012, the bank established Sparebankstiftelsen Sparebanken Sør.
The foundation owns 6 000 000 equity certificates each with a nominal value of NOK 100.
The board of directors will propose to the bank’s Board of Trustees to distribute dividend for 2013of NOK 4.95 per equity 
certificate.
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PURPOSE

Sparebanken Sør’s corporate governance principles will ensure that 

the bank’s corporate governance is in accordance with generally 

accepted and recognised views and standards and also laws and 

regulations.

The principles describe the general guidelines, and the aim is to 

ensure good cooperation between the bank’s various partners, such 

as lenders, customers, employees, governing bodies, management 

and society as a whole. The corporate governance principles 

describe how the bank will be managed and supervised to create 

value for the bank and its partners.

The corporate governance principles have been specified in various 

controlling documents for Sparebanken Sør’s operations. This 

includes the bank’s articles of association, strategies, management 

and supervision framework, code of conduct, insider trading and 

own-account trading routines.

The controlling documents have been based on the Norwegian 

Code of Practice for Corporate Governance and also the Committee 

of European Banking Supervisors’ principles for management and 

supervision. One of the aims of Sparebanken Sør is to satisfy the 

recommendation in the above-mentioned documents, as far as this 

is possible.

OPERATIONS

Sparebanken Sør is a financial group consisting of the parent bank 

and subsidiaries.

The object of Sparebanken Sør is to provide financial services to 

the private sector, industry and commerce and the public sector in 

the counties of Vest Agder, Aust Agder and Telemark. The business 

will be conducted with satisfactory profitability and justifiable risk. 

The strategy plan contains a description of the bank’s objectives 

and strategies. The strategic basis is evaluated by the board of 

directors and management at least annually and the bank’s plans 

are adjusted on an ongoing basis. The market is updated through 

presentation of interim reports.

Sparebanken Sør’s social responsibility is extensive and is 

attended to in several ways, primarily through non-profit activities, 

participation in and helping to organise meeting places for industry 

and commerce and the community and also ownership interests in 

companies / funds, the purpose of which is to stimulate growth and 

development.

Sparebanken Sør has a customer-oriented organisation with the 

retail banking and corporate market as its most important business 

areas. These are supplemented by support areas and group services. 

The bank’s organisational structure is dynamic and is assessed on 

the basis of changed needs and framework conditions.

EQUITY SHARE CAPITAL AND DIVIDEND

Sparebanken Sør is a savings bank. External supply of capital is 

achieved through issue of equity certificates and covered bonds. 

Sparebanken Sør’s equity share capital amounts to MNOK 600 

divided into 6 million equity certificates. The equity certificates are 

wholly owned by Sparebankstiftelsen Sparebanken Sør and are not 

yet listed on the stock exchange.

Owners of equity certificates should have predictable conditions 

as regards equal treatment, return and managerial influence. The 

equity certificate owners have a 20% representation on the Board 

of Trustees.   

 

The board of directors makes at least an annual assessment of the 

capital situation in the bank and ongoing assessments of solvency 

are made against regulatory requirements and commercial needs.  

Sparebanken Sør’s profit for the year is divided between the equity 

share capital and the primary capital according to the ratio between 

the equity share capital, plus the share premium fund and primary 

capital, plus the compensation fund. After the board of directors 

has put forward its proposal, the Board of Trustees determines 

the percentage of the total profit for the year to be allocated to 

dividend. Sparebanken Sør has a financial goal for its operations 

to achieve results that provide satisfactory total return in the form 

of dividend and increase in value. When allocating profit for the 

year, emphasis will be placed on the bank’s equity development 

and capital adequacy.

 

ORGANISATION AND RESPONSIBILITIES

Board of Trustees and control committee
The Board of Trustees is the bank’s supreme body and will ensure 

that the bank operates according to its object in accordance 

with laws, articles of association and own resolutions. The Board 

of Trustees is composed of 28 members, who are elected by the 

bank depositors (total of 12 representatives), the counties of 

Vest-Agder, Aust-Agder and Telemark (total of 3 representatives), 

equity certificate owners (total of 6 representatives) and the bank’s 

employees (total of 7 representatives). 
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The Board of Trustees may resolve to amend the bank’s articles of 

association when a motion regarding this has been put forward at 

a previous meeting. The resolution is valid when at least two thirds 

of those present and at least half of all the members of the Board 

of Trustees vote in favour of it.

Notice of ordinary meetings of the Board of Trustees is given in 

accordance with the provisions in the Savings Banks Act and the 

Financial Services Act. Notice of the ordinary meeting of the Board 

of Trustees is sent annually by the end of March, where items on 

the agenda include the annual accounts and report, the auditor’s 

report and the report from the control committee. This meeting also 

discusses the proposed dividend on the bank’s equity certificates 

and also allocation of donations. At the end of April each year, a 

meeting of the Board of Trustees is held to elect members of the 

board of directors and the control committee, etc. A separate 

election is held among customers and employees in order to elect 

members of the Board of Trustees.

The control committee, who are also elected by the Board of 

Trustees, shall supervise the board of directors and the group’s 

management work. In accordance with the articles of association, 

the control committee shall be composed of 3 members and 2 

deputy members. The board of directors, CEO and members of the 

executive management and specialists also attend the meeting of 

the Board of Trustees, as required.

Election committees
In accordance with the articles of association, the election 

committee for election of the Board of Trustees shall be composed 

of 5 members and 5 deputy members. Representatives from all 

groups are represented on the Board of Trustees. The election 

committee must give reasons for its recommendations and these 

must contain relevant information on candidates, including 

qualifications, capacity and independence. The recommendation 

must also contain information on the committee’s work. The 

election committee also attends the Board of Trustees meeting and 

puts forward its proposals. The election committee puts forward 

proposals regarding remuneration to employee representatives. 

No board members or representatives from the management are 

members of the election committee. 

The Board of Trustees’s election committee will prepare election 

of the chairman, deputy chairman, members and deputy members 

of the board of directors (with the exception of the employee 

representatives). The election committee also prepares election of 

the chairman of the control committee and of the deputy chairman, 

members and deputy members.

There are also separate election committees for the depositors and 

equity certificate owners’ election.

The election committee for the depositors’ election prepares the 

depositors’ election to the Board of Trustees. The committee is 

composed of three members and one deputy members elected 

from among the depositors. 

The election committee for the equity certificate owners’ election 

prepares the equity certificate owners’ election to the Board of 

Trustees. The committee is composed of three members elected 

from among the equity certificate owners.

BOARD OF DIRECTORS, COMPOSITION AND 
INDEPENDENCE

The board of directors is composed of 9 members and must have 3 

representatives from each of the Agder counties, 1 representative 

for Telemark and 2 representatives from the employees. Similarly, 4 

deputy members are elected for 2 and 1 year at a time respectively. 

The chairman and deputy chairman are elected by the Board of 

Trustees. Important criteria for election of board members and the 

composition of the board are qualifications, gender, capacity and 

independence. The majority of the board members must not be 

connected to the bank’s management and main business relations. 

The total competence of the board of directors will be assessed 

regularly in relation to the bank’s challenges and the result of the 

assessment will be reported to the election committee.

The board of directors’ work
The board of directors of Sparebanken Sør has 11 fixed annual 

meetings and also meetings in connection with strategy work. A 

wheel of the year has been drawn up for the board of directors’ 

work. The board of directors places special emphasis on the work 

on the annual review of the strategy plan. The board of directors 

also assesses whether the bank’s capital adequacy and risk picture 

is commercially justifiable and within the statutory framework. 

The CEO prepares matters to be discussed by the board of directors 

in cooperation with the chairman of the board. The board of 

directors has the overall responsibility for the management of 

the Sparebanken Sør Group and for supervising the day-to-day 

management and the bank’s operations. The board of directors’ 

management responsibility includes responsibility for organising the 

bank properly, establishing plans and budgets for the bank, keeping 

itself updated on the bank’s financial situation and development, and 

also that the bank’s operations, asset management and accounts are 

under satisfactory supervision. The board of directors must follow the 

object of the business laid down in the bank’s articles of association 

and must follow the guidelines and framework conditions laid down 

by public authorities, the Financial Supervisory Authority of Norway 

and the Board of Trustees.
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The board of directors has set up two committees as part of its work:

• The audit committee, which will ensure that Sparebanken Sør 

has independent and efficient external and internal auditing 

also account and risk reporting in accordance with laws and 

regulations. 

• The remuneration committee, which will ensure that the 

bank practises a competitive wage policy, is experienced as 

being motivated to the bank’s management with a view to 

implementing the adopted strategy and achieving established 

objectives and that complies with the applicable regulations.

The bank’s internal auditor reports to the board of directors and is 

entitled to attend board meetings. An annual report regarding the 

work carried out is submitted to the board of directors. The board of 

directors approves the internal auditor’s annual plan and resource 

requirements.

REMUNERATION TO THE BOARD OF DIRECTORS AND 
MANAGEMENT

Remuneration to the board of directors
Board members receive a fixed annual remuneration determined 

by the Board of Trustees following a recommendation from the 

election committee. No performance-related directors’ fees or 

other bonus scheme have been agreed for the board members.

Remuneration to key personnel
Remuneration to the CEO and internal auditor is determined 

by the board of directors of the bank, whereas remuneration to 

key personnel is determined by the CEO according to principles 

adopted by the board of directors and following prior discussion 

by the board of directors’ remuneration committee. None of these 

have performance-based remuneration apart from participating in 

the bank’s ordinary profit-sharing scheme, which includes and is 

the same as for all employees in the bank. Wages and payments to 

key personnel are presented in the notes to the accounts.

RISK MANAGEMENT AND INTERNAL CONTROL
Good risk and capital management are key elements in the 

Sparebanken Sør Group’s long-term value creation. The bank’s 

overall objectives have been laid down in the strategic business 

plan. The targeted return is decisive for the bank’s activities and 

specification of sub-goals and there is focus on securing short 

and long-term competitiveness. The Sparebanken Sør Group’s 

market and commercial targets are balanced against the bank’s 

risk capacity and willingness. Risk and capital assessments are an 

integral part of the bank’s strategic and commercial processes.

The bank’s risk management is associated with four risk areas:

• Credit risk

• Market risk

• Funding risk

• Operational risk

The board of directors of the Sparebanken Sør Group assumes that 

the bank has good capital adequacy. Capital assessments (ICAAP) 

are made annually and the bank’s capital strategy will be based 

on actual risk in the operations, supplemented by the impact of 

various stress scenarios. Responsibility for implementation of the 

bank’s risk and capital management and supervision has been 

divided between the board of directors, the management and 

operational units.

The board of directors is responsible for ensuring that the bank 

has adequate capital based on the desired risk and the bank’s 

operations, and also for ensuring that the bank is adequately 

capitalised in accordance with the regulatory requirements. The 

board of directors also adopts the bank’s targets and limits within 

all risk areas, including guidelines for the bank’s risk and capital 

management. Reporting on targets and limits takes place quarterly. 

The CEO has operational responsibility for the bank’s total 

risk management, including development of good models and 

management and supervision frameworks.

The bank’s Risk Management Department attends to important 

functions related to managing, monitoring, assessing and reporting 

the various risks. The department is also responsible for the bank’s 

risk and capital management models. The Risk Management 

Manager reports to the CEO.

The bank’s internal control is laid down in instructions, routines 

and guidelines for the line organisation. The ongoing internal 

control is carried out in the line and staff, while Risk Management 

is responsible for general reporting and supervision and adaptation 

of internal control systems.

The bank relies on trust among its customers and society as a 

whole. Emphasis is placed on maintaining a high ethical standard 

in the bank’s business operations. The Sparebanken Sør Group has 

a code of conduct that applies to all employees and employee 

representatives. These guidelines include areas, such as impartiality, 

confidentiality, customer relations / representation, participation in 

business activities and transactions with closely related parties.

Rules have been adopted relating to employees and employee 

representatives’ trading – including own account and inside trading. 
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These guidelines will ensure that the bank’s operations at all levels 

are conducted in a reassuring manner as regards impartiality and 

objectivity.

Compliance is the responsibility of Risk Management, which also 

takes care of this function for the investment firm.  

The employees’ duty of confidentiality is an important aspect of 

the bank’s handling of confidential information on private persons, 

companies and the public sector.

The Sparebanken Sør Group’s operations are supervised by the 

Financial Supervisory Authority of Norway. In addition to local 

supervisory activities, the Financial Supervisory Authority of Norway 

also reviews the bank’s annual, quarterly and half-yearly accounts 

and also risk reports. The board of directors and administration 

aim at maintaining an open and constructive dialogue with the 

Financial Supervisory Authority of Norway. 

INFORMATION AND COMMUNICATION
The bank would like to establish trust in the financial markets 

through focus on correct, relevant and timely information regarding 

the bank’s development and results. Information to the market is 

communicated through quarterly stock exchange reports and press 

releases, the bank’s website and also financial reports. 

Financial reporting for the Sparebanken Sør Group takes place 

quarterly, in addition to the annual accounts. The annual accounts 

are audited by an external auditor. Regular presentations are also 

given to international business partners, lenders and investors and 

the bank is also rated by an international rating agency.

AUDITOR
An external auditor is elected by the Board of Trustees. The auditor 

submits an annual auditor’s report to the Board of Trustees. The 

auditor attends the board meeting when the annual accounts 

are on the agenda. The auditor also attends control committee 

meetings and the board of directors’ audit committee meetings. The 

relationship with the auditor is regulated in a letter of engagement, 

which deals with such things as the parties’ responsibilities, 

determination of the auditor’s fee and how other services will be 

agreed and paid. The external and internal auditors meet once a 

year with the board of directors’ audit committee without the CEO 

being present. The external auditor also has an annual meeting 

with the board of directors without the management being present. 

The minutes from the meetings of the board of directors’ audit 

committee are presented to the board of directors.
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THE CONTROL COMMITTEE’S ANNUAL REPORT FOR 2013

To Sparebanken Sør’s Board of Trustees 

THE CONTROL COMMITTEE’S ANNUAL REPORT FOR 2013

The Control Committee has, during the course of the year monitored the Bank’s operations 
in accordance with the Savings Banks Act and currently valid directoves and instructions. 

The Bank’s operations have been conducted in compliance with the Savings Banks Act, the 
Bank’s by-laws, the Board of Trustees’ resolutions and other currently valid rules and 
regulations. 

The Control Commettee has examined the Bank’s annual financial statements for 2013 and 
reccomend that the prepared financial statements are adopted as the Bank’s official 
accounts for 2013.  

The Controll Committee is of the opinion that the Board of Directors’ assessment of the 
Bank’s financial position adequate. 

Arendal, 14. March 2014

Dag Jørgen Hveem        Georg Fritzmann             Yngvar Aulin              Sverre Irgens 
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AUDITOR’S REPORT FOR 2013

To the Board of Trustees of Sparebanken Sør

Independent auditor’s report

Report on the Financial Statements

We have audited the accompanying financial statements of Sparebanken Sør, which comprise the
financial statements of the parent company and the financial statements of the group. The financial
statements of the parent company and the financial statements of the group comprise the balance
sheet as at 31 December 2013, profit and loss account, total profit statement, statement of changes in
equity and cash flow statement for the year then ended, and a summary of significant accounting
policies and other explanatory information.

The Board of Directors and the Chief Executive Officer’s Responsibility for the Financial Statements

The Board of Directors and the Chief Executive Officer are responsible for the preparation and fair
presentation of these financial statements in accordance with International Financial Reporting
Standards as adopted by EU, and for such internal control as the Board of Directors and the Chief
Executive Officer determine is necessary to enable the preparation of financial statements that are free
from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.

Auditor’s Responsibility

Our responsibility is to express an opinion on these financial statements based on our audit. We
conducted our audit in accordance with laws, regulations, and auditing standards and practices
generally accepted in Norway, including International Standards on Auditing. Those standards require
that we comply with ethical requirements and plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonable
assurance about whether the financial statements are free from material misstatement.

An audit involves performing procedures to obtain audit evidence about the amounts and disclosures
in the financial statements. The procedures selected depend on the auditor’s judgment, including the
assessment of the risks of material misstatement of the financial statements, whether due to fraud or
error. In making those risk assessments, the auditor considers internal control relevant to the entity’s
preparation and fair presentation of the financial statements in order to design audit procedures that
are appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the
effectiveness of the entity’s internal control. An audit also includes evaluating the appropriateness of
accounting policies used and the reasonableness of accounting estimates made by management, as
well as evaluating the overall presentation of the financial statements.

We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for
our audit opinion.

Opinion

In our opinion, the financial statements are prepared in accordance with the law and regulations and
present fairly, in all material respects, the financial position for the parent company and the group
Sparebanken Sør as at 31 December 2013, and its financial performance and its cash flows for the year
then ended in accordance with International Financial Reporting Standards as adopted by EU.
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AUDITOR’S REPORT FOR 2013

Independent auditor's report - 2013 - Sparebanken Sør, page 2

(2)

Report on Other Legal and Regulatory Requirements

Opinion on the Board of Directors' report and the statement on Corporate Social Responsibility

Based on our audit of the financial statements as described above, it is our opinion that the
information presented in the Board of Directors report and in the statement on Corporate Social
Responsibility concerning the financial statements, the going concern assumption and the proposal for
the allocation of the profit is consistent with the financial statements and complies with the law and
regulations.

Opinion on Registration and Documentation

Based on our audit of the financial statements as described above, and control procedures we have
considered necessary in accordance with the International Standard on Assurance Engagements ISAE
3000 “Assurance Engagements Other than Audits or Reviews of Historical Financial Information”, it is
our opinion that management has fulfilled its duty to produce a proper and clearly set out registration
and documentation of the company’s accounting information in accordance with the law and
bookkeeping standards and practices generally accepted in Norway.

Kristiansand, 14 March 2014
PricewaterhouseCoopers AS

Reidar Henriksen
State Authorised Public Accountant (Norway)

Note: This translation from Norwegian has been prepared for information purposes only.
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DECLARATION IN ACCORDANCE WITH 
SECTION 5-5 OF THE SECURITIES TRADING ACT

The board of directors and CEO of the Sparebanken Sør 
Group confirm that the bank and the Group’s financial 
statements for 2013 have been prepared in accordance 
with the applicable accounting standards and give a true 
and fair view of the assets, liabilities, financial position and 
profit of the Bank and the Group as a whole. 

It is also confirmed that the annual report gives a fair review 
of the development, performance and position of the Bank 
and the Group, together with a description of the principal 
risks and uncertainties the Bank and the Group faces.

DECLARATION

Arendal, 31 December 2013/14 March 2014

 Stein Hannevik Torstein Moland Trond Bjørnenak Inger Johansen Siss Ågedal Jill Akselsen

        Chairman   Deputy Chairman

 Marit Kittilsen Erling Holm Bente Pedersen     Per Adolf Bentsen  Geir Bergskaug

                                                                      Employee Repr. Employee Repr.                                        CEO
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